
 
 

HEALTH SCRUTINY 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
Agenda 
 
 

Date Tuesday 20 March 2018 
 

Time 6.00 pm 
 

Venue Crompton Suite, Civic Centre, Oldham, West Street, Oldham, OL1 1NL 
 

Notes 
 

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST- If a Member requires advice on any 
item involving a possible declaration of interest which could affect his/her 
ability to speak and/or vote he/she is advised to contact Paul Entwistle or 
Lori Hughes at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting. 
 
2. CONTACT OFFICER for this agenda is Lori Hughes Tel. 0161 770 5151  
or email  lori.hughes@oldham.gov.uk 
 
3. PUBLIC QUESTIONS - Any Member of the public wishing to ask a 
question at the above meeting can do so only if a written copy of the 
question is submitted to the contact officer by 12 noon on Thursday, 15 
March 2018. 
 
4.  FILMING - The Council, members of the public and the press may 
record / film / photograph or broadcast this meeting when the public and 
the press are not lawfully excluded.  Any member of the public who attends 
a meeting and objects to being filmed should advise the Constitutional 
Services Officer who will instruct that they are not included in the filming. 
 
Please note that anyone using recording equipment both audio and visual 
will not be permitted to leave the equipment in the room where a private 
meeting is held. 
 
Recording and reporting the Council’s meetings is subject to the law 
including the law of defamation, the Human Rights Act, the Data Protection 
Act and the law on public order offences. 
 

 MEMBERSHIP OF THE HEALTH SCRUTINY 
 Councillors Goodwin, J Larkin, McLaren, Toor, Williamson and Williams 

 
 

Item No  

1   Apologies For Absence  

2   Declarations of Interest  

Public Document Pack



 
 

 To Receive Declarations of Interest in any Contract or matter to be discussed at 
the meeting. 

3   Urgent Business  

 Urgent business, if any, introduced by the Chair 

4   Public Question Time  

 To receive Questions from the Public, in accordance with the Council’s 
Constitution. 

5   Minutes of Previous Meeting (Pages 1 - 8) 

 The Minutes of the Health Scrutiny Sub-Committee held on 30th January 2018 
are attached for approval. 

6   Minutes of the Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee for Pennine Care 
Foundation Trust (Pages 9 - 12) 

 The minutes of the Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny for Pennine Care 
Foundation Trust meeting held on 30th November 2017 are attached for noting. 

7   Minutes of the Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee for Pennine Acute 
Hospitals NHS Trust (Pages 13 - 18) 

 The minutes of the JHOSC for Pennine Acute Hospitals NHS Trust meeting held 
on 3rd October 2017 are attached for noting. 

8   GM Health and Social Care Partnership Minutes (Pages 19 - 30) 

 The minutes of the GM Joint Health and Social Care Partnership meeting held on 
13th October 2017 are attached for noting. 

9   Greater Manchester Joint Health Scrutiny Committee (Pages 31 - 36) 

 The minutes of the GM Joint Health Scrutiny Committee meeting held on 8th 
November 2017 are attached for noting. 

10   Minutes of the Health and Wellbeing Board (Pages 37 - 42) 

 The minutes of the Health and Wellbeing Board held on 12th December 2017 are 
attached for noting. 

11   Meeting Overview (Pages 43 - 44) 

12   Resolution and Action Log (Pages 45 - 46) 

13   Urgent Primary Care (Pages 47 - 52) 

14   Integrated Care Organisation (Pages 53 - 54) 



 
 

15   Bridgewater NHS Trust (Pages 55 - 88) 

16   Children’s Safeguarding Task Group (Pages 89 - 90) 

17   Mayor's Healthy Living Campaign (Pages 91 - 92) 

18   Council Motions (Pages 93 - 94) 

19   2018/19 Forward Plan (Pages 95 - 98) 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

HEALTH SCRUTINY 
30/01/2018 at 6.00 pm 

 
 

Present: Councillors Goodwin, McLaren and Williams 
 

 Also in Attendance: 
 Fabiola Fuschi Constitutional Services Officer, 

Oldham Metropolitan Borough 
Council, OMBC 

 Oliver Collins Principal Policy Officer, OMBC 
 Dr. Charlotte Stevenson Joint Acting Director Public Health, 

OMBC 
 Caroline Greenen Senior Environmental Health 

Officer, OMBC 
 Stuart Richardson Managing Director Mental Health, 

Pennine Care NHS Foundation 
Trust 

 

 

1   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Toor and 
Williamson.  

2   URGENT BUSINESS   

There were no items of urgent business received. 

3   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

There were no declarations of interest received. 

4   PUBLIC QUESTION TIME   

There were no public questions received.  

5   MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING   

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Health Scrutiny Sub-
Committee meeting held on 19th December 2017 be approved 
as a correct record. 
 

6   GREATER MANCHESTER HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE 
PARTNERSHIP BOARD  

 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Greater Manchester Health 
and Social Care Partnership Board meeting held on 13th 
October 2017 be noted.  

7   GREATER MANCHESTER JOINT HEALTH SCRUTINY 
MINUTES  

 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Greater Manchester Joint 
Health Scrutiny meeting held on 8th November 2017 be noted.  

8   HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES   

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Health and Wellbeing Board 
meeting held on 19th September 2017 be noted.  
 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



 

9   ACTION LOG   

RESOLVED that the Action Log referring to the meeting of the 
Health Scrutiny Sub-Committee held on 19th December 2017 be 
noted.  

10   MEETING OVERVIEW   

RESOLVED that today’s Meeting Overview be noted.  

11   HEALTH CHECK PROGRAMME   

Consideration was given to a report of the Joint Acting Director 
of Public Health on the performance of the Health Checks 
programme across Oldham. The author of the report was in 
attendance to present the information and address the enquiries 
of the Committee.  
 
It was reported that the NHS Health Checks was a national 
health risk assessment programme that aimed to help prevent 
vascular disease, including heart disease, stroke, diabetes and 
kidney disease. Patients between the ages of 40 and 74, who 
did not have already a diagnosis linked to one of these 
conditions, were invited every five years to have a Health Check 
to assess their risk of developing one or more of the conditions 
above.  
 
Once the risk assessment was completed, patients would be 
provided with advice on how to maintain a healthy lifestyle. They 
would be referred to their GP if further clinical tests were 
necessary or to the Early Help Service, provided by Positive 
Steps, if a lifestyle change was recommended. Those patients 
identified as being at high risk of cardiovascular disease were 
placed on disease registers and clinically managed by their GP 
practice.  
 
The target to measure Health Checks performance was set 
nationally; local authorities were asked to invite annually 20% of 
the eligible population. Oldham had achieved this target in 
2015/16 and continued to exceed it: this year already 13.3% of 
the eligible population had been invited.  
 
Oldham had been recognised nationally for quality improvement 
in delivering Health Checks to the population and for developing 
Cardiovascular Communication Risk training package for the 
NHS Health Checks nationally. The training package had been 
presented to this year’s National Cardiovascular Prevention 
Conference. It was explained that at the core of Oldham’s 
success was the work of the Public Health Programme Manager 
who had visited every GP practice to explain the process, 
ensuring that the different needs of the population were 
considered in developing best practice pathways.  
 
In terms of future development, the Oldham NHS Health Checks 
strategy was going to be refreshed in 2018 to focus on clinical 
outcomes and quality. The review was led by a steering group. 
The aim was to target those parts of the population who were 
likely to present the conditions.  Page 2



 

 
Members sought and received clarification / commented on the 
following points: 

– Health Checks and use of technology – It was explained 
that the steering group was trying to find new ways of 
reaching people, especially amongst those parts of 
Oldham’s population who were less likely to undertake 
Health Checks.  

– Eligible population invited to attend Health Checks - It 
was explained that the figure in the last column of the 
table on page 40 of the report represented the 
percentage of people who had received a health check 
out the entire eligible population.  

– Community events to reach more people – It was 
explained that Health Checks offered via the community 
model already targeted specific parts of the population 
through community events and outreach activities.  

– Health Checks for Councillors and Officers – the Joint 
Acting Director of Public Health would liaise with the 
Corporate Policy Development Officer to organise a 
Health Checks session for Councillors and Officers.  

– The Committee expressed its support to the Health 
Checks programme and its availability to sponsor it to 
encourage more people to take part in it. This could be 
linked to the Mayor’s Healthy Living Campaign.  

– Would it be possible to include figures on the outcomes of 
the NHS Health Checks? – It was explained that the 
national target was based on invitations to attend the 
Health Checks. Currently, the emphasis was on 
improving the quality of the Health Checks, for example 
via better signposting to determine what the patient 
should be doing following the Health Check.   

– To extrapolate figures of patients who had a particular 
disease which had been identified through the Health 
Check – It was explained that through the training model 
that had been developed in Oldham and that would go 
nationally, it would be possible to identify some case 
studies, if people were prepared to share their stories.  
 

RESOLVED that: 
1. The content of the report be noted. 
2. The Joint Acting Director of Public Health liaise with the 

Corporate Policy Development Officer to organise and 
promote NHS Health Checks with Elected Members and 
Officers.  

 

12   AIR QUALITY   

The Committee gave consideration to a report of the Senior 
Environmental Health Officer on the causes and effects of air 
pollution and the measures that were being put in place in 
Greater Manchester to achieve the air quality objectives set by 
the Government to protect the health of communities.  
 
The author of the report attended the meeting to present the 
information and address the enquiries of the Committee.  Page 3



 

 
It was explained that the highest levels of air pollution were 
found near to busy roads where the emissions were greatest. 
Oldham worked in partnership with Transport for Greater 
Manchester (TfGM) and the other nine local authorities in GM to 
assess air pollution levels in the area.  
 
Air pollution monitoring took place in a number of locations in 
Oldham and the rest of GM. In addition, air pollution modelling 
was carried out to calculate pollution concentration across GM. 
This work had identified areas where the air quality objectives 
had not been met. As a consequence, Air Quality Management 
Areas had been identified to address the causes of higher levels 
of pollution.  
 
A National Air Quality Plan had been produced with additional 
measures to be put in place to improve air quality to meet health 
based standards by 2020. The plan required that feasibility 
studies were undertaken to identify solutions to local 
exceedances. All local authorities in GM would participate in the 
study. This work was coordinated by TfGM.  
A GM Air Quality Action Plan had already been in place since 
2016. Therefore, the findings of the national feasibility studies 
would be incorporated into it.      
 
In Oldham, an Air Quality sub-group had been established as 
part of the Health and Wellbeing Board, chaired by the Cabinet 
Member for Health and Wellbeing. The Air Quality sub-group 
aimed to address aspects of GM air quality plan and ensure that 
the agreed actions were implemented locally.  Furthermore, the 
sub-group was consistently focusing on finding new ways for the 
Council to reduce the carbon footprint in the Borough.  In 
particular, Waste Management services had replaced older 
vehicles, used for waste collection and gritting, with new, eco-
friendly ones. Licensing Services were exploring the possibility 
to offer incentives to those taxi drivers who switched to electric 
vehicles.  
 
Members sought and received clarification / commented on the 
following points: 

– Reducing traffic - It was explained that a number of 
measures could be put in place such as electric vehicles. 
However, they key solution would be relying on people 
not to use their private vehicle and encourage drivers to 
use alternative methods of transport such as public 
transport or active travelling (i.e.: walking or cycling).  

– Air quality monitoring results at sites in Oldham  against 
national air quality objectives – It was explained that 
although Oldham did not exceed the national air quality 
objectives, the Borough still had to comply with the GM 
and the national air quality action plan to reduce air 
pollution.    

– Were the site locations/diffusion tubes to measure air 
pollution fixed? – It was explained that the equipment was 
mobile. However, keeping the equipment in the same 
locations assisted with comparative purposes, making the Page 4



 

exercise more effective. Additional diffusion tubes had 
been positioned in 2015/16. Air pollution modelling was 
also carried out to calculate pollution concentration in 
other areas.  

– How had the air quality objectives been set? -  It was 
explained that the standards had been set following 
accurate research on air pollution and the effects of 
Nitrogen Dioxide and Particles on people’s health.  

– Data on proportion of Nitrogen Oxides and Particulates 
emissions from road sources and ways to target the 
highest polluters  – It was explained that a piece of work 
was being undertaken in order to identify the heaviest 
polluters on the busiest roads.  

– Heaviest polluted sites in Oldham and planting trees to 
reduce carbon footprint – It was agreed to liaise with the 
Senior Arboricultural and Countryside Officer to explore 
the possibility to carry out a piece of work to identify the 
most effective species of trees to counteract air pollution.  

– The Committee expressed its interest in supporting a 
campaign to promote ways to reduce air pollution and 
encouraged a project to monitor the links between 
behaviour changes, reducing air pollution and effects on 
people’s health and wellbeing – It was explained that a 
Clean Day Event would take place in June 2018 to 
encourage people to reflect on the impact of their 
behaviour on air pollution and explore ways to reduce the 
carbon footprint.  

 
RESOLVED that: 

1. The content of the report be noted.  
2. The findings of the consultation on the national Air Quality 

Action Plan (October 2018) be reported to this 
Committee. 

3. The Senior Environmental Health Officer liaise with the 
Senior Arboricultural and Countryside Officer to explore 
the possibility to carry out a piece of work to identify the 
most effective species of trees to counteract air pollution.  

4. The Senior Environmental Health Officer liaise with the 
Corporate Policy Development Officer to begin a project 
in June 2018 to evaluate the links between behaviour 
changes, reducing air pollution and effects on people’s 
health and wellbeing. The outcomes of the project be 
reported to this Committee.  

 

13   PENNINE CARE FOUNDATION TRUST - CARE QUALITY 
COMMISSION REPORT AND ACTION PLAN PROGRESS 
UPDATE  

 

Consideration was given to a briefing paper concerning the 
improvement action plan for the Pennine Care NHS Foundation 
Trust (PCFT) that had been produced following the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) inspection in the summer of 2016. Overall 
the trust had been rated as “Requiring improvement”.  
 

Page 5



 

The Managing Director Mental Health PCFT attended the 
meeting to present the information and address the enquiries of 
the Committee.  
 
It was reported that, following the inspection, a programme of 
refurbishment had been completed on both Northside and 
Southside Wards. Section 136 assessment suite had also been 
refurbished. Additional Government funding had been received 
to upgrade a number of buildings to improve patients’ 
experience.  
 
An independent review had been undertaken which had showed 
that the wards were not sufficiently resourced to ensure a 
therapeutic environment. At Greater Manchester level, it had 
been recognised that it was necessary to bridge the gap 
between mental health providers in the region. Therefore, 
significant funding had been invested which would be used to 
recruit members of staff.  
 
Training and development was also an area of focus: members 
of staff had been provided with mandatory as well as specific 
training such as Dementia awareness.  
 
Monthly meetings with CQC, with a new senior leadership team 
in post, ensured that the Trust was on track with all work 
streams listed in the improvement plan. However, a forward plan 
was going to be developed to guarantee consistent quality 
improvement.  
 
Members sought and received clarification /commented on the 
following points: 

– End of Life – it was explained that there was no action 
from the inspection with regards to the End of Life 
service.  

– No female only lounge available – It was explained that a 
female only lounge was planned and it would soon be 
provided.  

– Impact of CQC rating on members of staff’s morale – It 
was explained that Senior Management had taken the 
opportunity to start doing things differently. The workforce 
had been supported through the change towards a 
therapeutic model of care. Prior to the inspection, Mental 
Health services had been underfunded and not enough 
resources had been made available. However, the 
workforce had always been recognised as a caring 
workforce. The CQC report had helped to provide 
evidence that more resources were necessary to provide 
a safe environment for patients.  

– Old inspection regime, change in the rating criteria and 
date for a new inspection – It was explained that PCFT 
was the last mental health provider to be assessed by 
CQC under the old inspection regime. The new 
inspection regime was based on a self-assessment 
model. Currently, three CQC Compliance Managers had 
meetings with the Trust’s Senior Management on a 
monthly basis. They also took part in an engagement Page 6



 

session with members of staff. CQC planned their 
inspections according to a risk rating scale. Therefore, 
the Trust had to wait for a new inspection.  

– Continuing improving services and managing the budget 
deficit of the Trust– It was explained that investments 
were required to provide good quality Mental Health 
services and ensure a safe environment. In addition, 
Senior Management and clinicians worked together to 
make the best use of resources. The integration of the 
health and social care agenda would also be part of the 
process and the new Chief Executive was a strong 
supporter of it.  

– Prevention to highlight issues at an earlier stage and 
stigma associated to Mental Health - It was explained that 
work with primary care was essential to provide low level 
support to people and to prevent issues from escalating. 
Prevention and investments in higher level support for 
people with severe Mental Health problems were equally 
essential measures.  

– Ability of the Trust to retain members of staff – It was 
explained that recruiting staff was a national issue as 
there was a shortage of 36,000 nurses in the country. 
The Trust intended to reinvest resources to develop 
clinically the workforce with a focus on skill mix and 
competencies.  

– Internal review – It was explained that there was a team 
entirely dedicated to carry out continuous internal 
reviews. This entailed a cultural change where members 
of staff, service users and stakeholders could raise their 
concerns when issues occurred.  

 
RESOLVED that: 

1. The PCFT Action Plan Progress Update be noted.  
2. A progress report be presented in January 2019, 

including information on the measures in place to monitor 
quality and manage the budget deficit of the Trust.  

 

14   COUNCIL MOTIONS   

The Committee gave consideration to a motion that had been 
approved by Council on 13th December 2017 concerning the 
performance of the Accident & Emergency Department at the 
Royal Oldham Hospital.  
 
The Chief Executive was asked to write to the Chancellor and 
the Secretary of State for Health, asking them to ensure that 
there would be an urgent review of pay for NHS Staff so that 
NHS organisations could recruit and retain staff with the right 
levels of skill to ensure that patients receive a safe, high quality 
and efficient service. 
 
RESOLVED that the content of the motion and the Council’s 
resolution be noted.  

15   HEALTH SCRUTINY FORWARD PLAN   

Consideration was given to the Health Scrutiny Forward Plan: Page 7



 

– With regards to the Bridgewater NHS Trust, having 
reviewed the CQC report and following a conversation 
with the commissioners, it was suggested that a two year 
service update and a brief presentation of the action plan 
would be requested for the meeting of the Health Scrutiny 
Sub-Group on 20th March 2018.  

– With regards to the Mayor’s Healthy Living Campaign, a 
review of the actions taken during the current municipal 
year would be provided at the next meeting.  

 
RESOLVED that the updates on the Forward Plan be noted.  
 

16   DATE OF NEXT MEETING   

RESOLVED that the next meeting of the Health Scrutiny Sub-
Committee be held on 20th March 2018 at 6pm as per the 
2017/18 Municipal Calendar.  
 

The meeting started at 6.00 pm and ended at 7.33 pm 
 

Page 8



Page 9

Agenda Item 6



Page 10



Page 11



Page 12



                                                                                                                                                                                                                         
Meeting of:

Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee for Pennine Acute 
Hospitals NHS Trust

Date: 3rd October 2017

Present:
Councillor Roy Walker (Bury Council)
Councillor Stella Smith (Bury Council)
Councillor Joan Davies (Manchester City Council)
Councillor Colin McLaren (Oldham Council)
Councillor Sarah Kerrison (Bury MBC)
Councillor John McCann (Oldham MBC)

Jack Sharp: Director of Strategy Salford Royal and Pennine Acute
Jude Adams: Chief Delivery Officer, Salford Royal and Pennine Acute 
NHS Trust
Jo Purcell: Deputy Director North East Sector, Pennine Acute 
Dr Smeeta Sinha: Clinical Director and Consultant Nephrologist, Renal 
Services 
Vicki Tipper: Senior Manager Renal Services
Ms Julie Gallagher: Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Officer 

PAT. 17/18-09 APOLOGIES

Apologies were received from Councillor Ann Stott (Rochdale MBC), 
Councillor Linda Robinson (Rochdale MBC), Councillor John Farrell 
(Manchester City Council), Councillor Shaukat Ali (Manchester City 
Council), Councillor Norman Briggs (Oldham MBC) 

PAT.17/18-10 DECLARATIONS OF INTERST

There were no declarations of interest.

PAT.17/18-11 MINUTES AND MATTERS ARISING

 
It was agreed:

That the minutes of the meetings held on 4 July 2017 be approved as 
a correct record.

PAT.17/18-12 PUBLIC QUESTIONS

There were no public questions.

Page 13

Agenda Item 7



2

PAT 17/18-13 PENNINE IMPROVEMENT PLAN

Jude Adams, Chief Delivery Officer attended the meeting to provide 
members with a further update in respect of the Pennine Improvement 
Plan.  An accompanying report had been circulated to elected 
members in advance of the meeting which contained information in 
respect of the key areas for improvement identified in addition to the 
fragile services were:

 Patient safety, harm and outcomes
 Systems of assurance and governance arrangements
 Operational Management and data quality
 Workforce capacity and capability
 Leadership and external relations

The Chief Delivery Officer reported that one of the overarching aims of 
the improvement work was to avoid harm and reduce mortality rates.  
Improvement work has been successful in reducing the mortality rate, 
the rate currently is 96 (compared to a previous high of 106) this is 
now below the national average.

The Chief Delivery Officer reported that one of the most fragile 
services was NMGH accident and emergency.  There was 1.5 
consultants covering the service 24/7, a significant number of patients 
waiting over 12 hours on hospital trollies as no beds were available.  
In respect of paediatric services due to problems with staffing in 
particular in the high dependency unit a number of children were being 
placed out of area.  

Since the CQC visit there has been significant improvements in the 
consultant cover in A&E, there has been a reduction in the number of 
patients waiting over 12 hours for a hospital bed and there has been 
fewer out of area placements.
In respect of maternity services 1.2 million pounds has been invested 
and recruitment of additional midwives has been a priority.  

Questions were invited from those present and the following issues 
were raised:

In response to a Member’s question, the Chief Delivery Officer 
reported that the Nursing Assessment and Accreditation System has 
been introduced within the Pennine Acute Trust following a successful 
roll-out across Salford Royal Hospital Trust.  Information gained from 
the assessment will identify incidents of pressure ulcers and falls, this 
information will help to ascertain problems across the Trust.

The CQC will undertake a further un-announced inspection between 
September and December, the inspections will include staff focus 

Page 14



3

groups with staff within the Trust from all areas and all disciplines.  
The CQC inspection findings will be made available in December 2017.

In response to a member’s question, the Chief Delivery Officer 
reported that data collated in respect of the number of falls, pressure 
ulcers and infections are all strong indicators in respect of how well a 
Trust is performing.  It is imperative that community services are 
developed as alternative to acute care.

With regards to Consultant session, the Chief Delivery Officer reported 
that the Trust has been stabilised in terms of Consultant cover with 
support from Consultants whose primary place of work is Central 
Manchester or Salford Royal Hospital Trust.  An additional three 
consultants have now been recruited and all will be in post shortly.  
Recruitment continues to be a problem within the Trust and in some 
disciplines vacancy rates are as high as 10%.

The Chief Delivery Officer confirmed that engagement is improving 
with the local authorities with regards to the additional funding they 
have received to ease pressures in social care.

In response to a Member’s question, the Chief Delivery Officer 
confirmed that the CQC inspection highlighted problems in respect of 
how the Trust responded to complaints and also serious incidence 
reporting.  Systems have been put in place to address the issues 
identified, including immediate action where appropriate, root cause 
analysis all complaints shared with Directors.

With regards to the four hour waiting times in Accident and 
Emergency, the Chief Delivery Officer reported that this target is 
indicative of how the hospital is performing over all in particular how 
patients flow through the hospital.  Problems still persistent with 
regards to recruitment of middle grade doctors, significant 
improvements have been made at Fairfield General Hospital and this 
site is now the best performing hospital in Greater Manchester.  

It was agreed:
1. A further update in respect of the most recent Care Quality 

Commission visit will be provided at a future meeting of the JHOSC 
for Pennine Acute.

2. Sir David Dalton will be invited to attend a future meeting of the 
JHOSC for Pennine Acute.

The Chair agreed that items 6 & 7 would be considered as one item 

PAT 17/18-14 DEVELOPMENT OF THE NORTH EAST SECTOR ACUTE 
SERVICE STRATEGY & HEALTHIER TOGETHER UPDATE

Jo Purcell, Deputy Director North East Sector attended the meeting to 
provide Members with an update in respect of the north east sector 

Page 15



4

acute service strategy.  Work so far has included; Quality 
Improvement Strategy, Urgent Care Improvement; Go Engage Staff 
Engagement System; Recruitment / Retention Plan; Safeguarding 
Review Complete; Clinical Leadership Programmes; Comprehensive 
Review of FFT Reporting and Maternity.

The northeast sector transformation will encapsulate, the CQC 
findings, clinically and financially sustainable services, GM Devolution 
Theme three, workforce challenges, focus on prevention, single 
Hospital Service for Manchester, LCO / Locality plans, Community 
regeneration and Heathier Together Standards.

Locality plans have been developed and agreed by each CCG, Council 
and wider partners and approved by the GM Health and Social care 
Partnership.  Across the NES these plans seek to: integrate Health and 
Social Care commissioning, prevention focused Locality Plans with 
more care delivered outside of hospital through Local Care 
Organisations.

The Deputy Director reported that locality plan activity assumptions 
will reduce income to PAHT by £52.9m by 2020/21. 

The proposals will focus on hospital services across Fairfield General 
Hospital, Rochdale Infirmary, The Royal Oldham Hospital and North 
Manchester General Hospital (with specific governance arrangements 
for NMGH).  North East Sector Commissioners have endorsed the 
concept of a Shared Hospital Service, linking Oldham, Bury and 
Rochdale with Salford (and where appropriate partner organisations).
Royal Oldham Hospital will be a specialist high acuity hospital for under 
the Healthier Together; the focus of all hospital sites will evolve 
responding to planned activity shifts and in order to secure future 
resilience.

The Clinical Service Strategy will see the strategic outline case 
developed in December 2017 with the outline business and the full 
business case being completed in April 2018 and July 2018 
respectively.

The Deputy Director reported that clinical and financial sustainability 
must be achieved over a 5 year period; the new strategy will need to 
ensure safe, reliable and compassionate care.

With regards to FGH the Deputy Director reported that there may be in 
the future an increasing amount of elective surgery on this site.

Consultation and engagement will be ongoing as the work to 
reconfigure and develop the north east sector services and dis- 
aggregate North Manchester from Pennine Acute continues.

Page 16



5

The ambition is that together with the Salford Royal hospital trust the 
remaining hospitals will work together as a Northern Care Alliance. A 
separate but connected programme of work is underway, with each 
Locality, to transform community services and integrate health and 
social care.

In respect of Healthy Together implementation capital monies has 
been secured in principle to commence the programme of work.  This 
may take 70/72 weeks, progress may be hindered by the inability to 
recruit to posts within general surgery.

PAT 17/18-15 KIDNEY CARE CENTRE PROPOSAL

Dr Smeeta Sinha, Clinical Director and Consultant Nephrologist, Renal 
Services and Vicki Tipper, Senior Manager Renal Services attended the 
meeting to inform Members of the proposals to re-provide Rochdale’s 
Haemo-dialysis service to Heywood; the creation of joint Bury & 
Rochdale Kidney Care Centre in Heywood and the repatriation of 
Specialist Services from Salford to joint Bury & Rochdale Kidney Care 
Centre.

Rochdale and Bury are projected to have significant growth in demand 
for CKD and dialysis services. The proposal requires sufficient volume 
of patients to create a critical mass to enable specialist services to be 
brought from Salford and patients repatriated from Bolton, an 
accessible location for Bury and Rochdale patients is required.
Majority of satellite renal units are not based within hospital grounds 
as they are not interdependent with acute hospital services
Relocating the unit to Heywood improves travel time for pre-dialysis 
and post-transplant patients by 56,000 miles per annum.

Responding to a Members question the Senior Manager reported that 
the Trust have not experienced any problems in recruiting to positions 
within the team.  The service provides holistic support via a multi-
disciplinary team, the teams will consist of occupational therapists, 
dieticians and dialysis technicians.

In response to a Member’s question the Senior Manager reported that 
70% of patients using the service are transported there using patient 
transport service and there would be no cost associated with the 
attendance at the Clinics.

The Clinical Director reported that the new unit will provide 20 chairs 
for renal dialysis, there will be a service level agreement that will 
specify the specific staffing required to appropriately support the 
service.

Responding to a Member’s question the Clinical Director reported that 
the exact timeline for engagement is still to be agreed with the clinical 
commissioning groups.

Page 17



6

It was agreed:

The Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee:
1. Endorse the decision of the Rochdale and Bury governing bodies to 

support the development of a fully integrated kidney care service for 
Rochdale and Bury patients provided from a new state of the art 
facility in Heywood.

2. Support the proposed approach to local patient engagement and 
consultation.

3. Following the completion of the engagement and consultation an 
update report will be considered at a future meeting of the JHOSC for 
Pennine Acute. 

PAT 17/18-16 CAPITAL REPORT FOR THE ROYAL OLDHAM HOSPITAL 
AND THE NORTH MANCHESTER GENERAL HOSPITAL 

Members of the Joint Committee considered an update report in 
respect of the capital works being undertaken at the Royal Oldham and 
North Manchester General Hospital.

It was agreed:

Further update reports in respect of the capital works at Royal Oldham 
and the North Manchester General Hospital will be provided at future 
meetings of the Joint Committee.

 PAT 17/18-17 URGENT BUSINESS

There was no urgent business reported.

Page 18



1

3

GM HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIP BOARD

MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 13 OCTOBER 2017

Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Dorothy Whitaker
Trust

Bolton CCG Su Long

Bolton Council Councillor Linda Thomas
John Daly

Bury CCG Stuart North

Bury Council Steve Kenyon

Christie NHS FT Roger Spencer

GMCA Eamonn Boylan
Lindsay Dunn
Jamie Fallon

GM ACCGs Rob Bellingham

GM Fire and Rescue Service Tony Hunter

GM H&SC Partnership Team Steve Barnard
Warren Heppolette
Claire Norman
Nicky O’Connor
Jon Rouse
Steve Wilson

Health Innovation Manchester (HiM) Rowena Burns

Healthwatch Jack Firth

Heywood, Middleton & Rochdale CCG Chris Duffy
Simon Wooton

Manchester CC Councillor Bev Craig
Geoff Little

NW Boroughs Healthcare NHS FT John Heritage

Page 19

Agenda Item 8



2

Oldham Council Councillor Eddie Moores
Carolyn Wilkins

Primary Care Advisory Group (GP) Tracey Vell

Primary Care Advisory Group (Optometry) Dharmesh Patel

Primary Care Advisory Group (Pharmacy) Adam Irvine

Salford CC Councillor John Merry
David Herne

Salford CCG Tom Tasker

Stockport CCG Ranjit Gill

Stockport MBC Councillor Wendy Wild
Pam Smith

Stockport NHS Foundation Trust Adrian Belton

Tameside & Glossop CCG Paul Pallister

Tameside MBC Councillor Brenda Warrington
Steven Pleasant

Tameside NHS Foundation Trust Karen James

TfGM Bob Morris

Trafford CCG Matt Colledge
Cameron Ward

Trafford Council Councillor John Lamb
Jill Colbert

Wigan Council Councillor Peter Smith (in the Chair)

Wigan, Wrightington & Leigh NHS FT Carole Hudson
Neil Turner

SPB 85/17 WELCOME AND APOLOGIES

Apologies were received from;

Simon Barber, Ann Barnes, Councillor Jacqui Beswick, Wirin Bhatiani, Chris Brookes, Andy
Burnham, Derek Cartwright, Paul Connellan, Bev Humphreys, Julie Connor, Mayor Paul
Dennett, Alan Dow, Councillor Richard Farnell, Anthony Hassall, Beverley Hughes, Bev
Humphreys, Majid Hussain, Pat Jones-Greenhalgh, Kevin Lee, Andrew Lightfoot, Councillor
Cliff Morris, Silas Nicholls, Pete O’Reilly, Christine Outram, Dr Richard Preece, Steve

Page 20



3

Rumbelow, Colin Scales, Councillor Rishi Shori, Tom Thornber, Liz Treacy, Ian Williamson,
Ian Wilkinson and Giles Wilmore.

SPB 86/17 CHAIR’S ANNOUNCEMENTS AND URGENT BUSINESS

The Chair thanked Oldham for the use of facilities for the revised arrangements of the GM
Health and Social Partnership Board meeting that previously met on the same day as the
Greater Manchester Combined Authority. It was explained to members that as well as the
frequency and timings changing, the format would also alter in order to better engage with the
talents of those represented.

RESOLVED/-

To note the revised arrangements and format.

SPB 87/17 MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD 28 JULY 2017

The minutes of the meeting held 28 July 2017 were agreed as a true record

RESOLVED/-

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 28 July 2017.

SPB 88/17     CHIEF OFFICER’S UPDATE

Jon Rouse, Chief Officer, Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership
(GMHSCP), provided an update on key items of interest across the GMHSC Partnership.

The Board were asked to note and provide feedback on the content of the revised update
report that included recommendations and decisions made at the GM Strategic Partnership
Board Executive meetings.

The following items were highlighted;

 In relation to the Workforce Strategy, GM has developed a system wide approach to
nursing recruitment with some encouraging first results. Commendation was given to
the Directors of Nursing and the relevant Universities for their collaborative work in this
area which has seen an 11% increase in student intake against a national reduction of
6%. The Partnership is expecting to build on this collaborative model and extend to
benefit Social Care, General Practice and mental health where there are significant
staff shortages.

 GM is investing £10m of capital in digital solutions across the health and care system
this year. The funding will support the transformation of services to residents and is the
start of a digital improvement plan expected to invest up to £70m over the next 3-4
years. Localities have had the opportunity to submit bids for the use of this funding
which relates to 2017/18. The recommendations from this process will be reported to
SPBE for decision.

Page 21



4

 The Care Quality Commission (CQC) will undertake place based reviews in both City
of Manchester and Trafford over the forthcoming weeks with emphasis on the
integration of health and social care. The outcome of both reviews will be presented to
the Board in due course.

 Urgent Care performance across GM is currently at 89.4% for the year to date with no
individual trust achieving the national standard of 95%. Bolton, Stockport and Pennine
Acute have particularly challenged performance.

 Delayed Transfers of Care performance is at 3.7% for the month of July, showing a
positive lower amount year on year.  Variation still exists across the system, however,
Stockport has reported significant improvements in this area.

 Cancer performance is now a priority concern for GM. The Partnership team is
supporting improvements to address, stabilise and correct the current position.

 CQC have recently completed Primary care inspections. A tremendous achievement
was reported on the performance of Tameside and Glossop GPs practices, all of which
have been found to be either ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’.

 Although resources are much tighter this year, financial performance was summarised
as broadly to plan.

RESOLVED/-

To note the update report and provide feedback in relation to content or omissions for future
updates.

SPB 89/17 HEALTH INNOVATION MANCHESTER – UPDATE ON PROGRESS

Rowena Burns, Executive Lead, Health Innovation Manchester introduced a report and
provided a presentation which outlined the work that has taken place since March 2017 to
refocus Health Innovation Manchester (HInM) and create a sound platform for delivery.  It
also outlined the further work scheduled for the months beyond October 2017.

It was reported that the operational merger of the Academic Health Science Network (AHSN)
and Academic Health Science Centre (AHSC) organisations, including colocation of the staff,
is complete. The HInM board has agreed a 3-year strategic business plan consisting of a
revised set of three strategic objectives, which will be presented to this Board in due course
and published in November.

The HInM board, partners and staff have all been engaged in its creation. This plan will have
a full suite of KPIs and a measurement framework to demonstrate contribution to GMHSCP’s
goals, and direct and indirect economic benefits.

The 3 key strategic objectives going forward for HInM were reported as:

 To make GM an internationally renowned location for life science, med-tech and digital
healthcare research and innovation.

 To accelerate the discovery, development and deployment of innovations that improve
our population’s health and well-being.

 To contribute to national and international health and life science policy to strengthen
the competitiveness of the UK Life Sciences Industry, tackle health and social care
challenges and address the rising costs of ill health.

Page 22



5

The key next steps over the next six months were highlighted as:

 Consolidation of the HInM delivery vehicle, governance arrangements and complete
resourcing of the single HInM team.

 The confirmation of the future funding model for HInM.
 The launch the 3-year strategic business plan to reflect the Key priorities for HInM

going forward.
 Extensive communication with partners and stakeholders, to improve understanding of

HInM’s work, and of the processes through which innovations will be evaluated and
adopted.

 Bringing forward quick win innovations in mental health, social care, and primary care,
alongside implementation of the secondary care quick wins already identified.

On behalf of the Partnership, the Chair welcomed the update which demonstrated the use of
the devolution agreement to ensure wider benefits for the region in terms of healthcare and
promoting GM as an attractive place for future innovative developments.

A member asked, if as a result, GM providers and commissioners would benefit from
obtaining drugs and medicines at a competitively reduced price. It was highlighted that the
pricing of drugs is highly complex both in the degree in control at a national and local level. It
was confirmed that at present, the focus of work alongside the pharmaceutical industry with
regard to pricing, is on projects with payment linked to outcomes.

Jon Rouse confirmed that an adoption and diffusion framework is a critical development
required for GM. This is currently being developed in order to drive perception into reality for
the potential opportunity to develop evidence based best practice. The adoption and diffusion
context and structure will be presented to the Board in due course.

RESOLVED/-

1. To note the progress made in 2017 to establish HInM and provide a firm basis for
implementation of the priorities in the Business Plan;

2. To note and approve the next steps to be undertaken in 2017/18 to consolidate the new
organisation, launch the strategic objectives and new business plan and determine HInM’s
future funding structure.

SPB 90/17 TRANSFORMATION FUND UPDATE

Steve Wilson, Executive Lead: Finance & Investment introduced a report providing an update
on recent developments with the Transformation Fund. Members were asked to acknowledge
the significant milestone in the investment of the fund as all ten localities have progressed
through the locality bidding process for investment. It was noted that the Transformation Fund
will move into a different phase and focus on delivery of the plans and assurance that
investment will deliver the goal of clinically sustainable and financially affordable services
across GM.

This month had an expanded section on the findings and recommendations from the
assessment team in their evaluation of the proposals from Bury, Rochdale and Trafford.

Page 23



6

The key headlines were:

 Bury’s proposal supports the delivery of their locality plan to achieve a series of system
wide transformational ‘shifts’ in order to transform the health and wellbeing of the
population in Bury.

 By 2021, Rochdale aims to have more people in control of their own health and
wellbeing, managing their long term conditions well and being supported to achieve
good health and wellbeing.

 Trafford’s Transformation Fund Bid sought to secure a sustainable health and social
care economy by 2021, in order to build a strong foundation for delivery of Trafford’s
vision for 2031.

 TFOG recommended a substantive investment of £19.2m over four years for Bury,
£23.5m over four years for Rochdale and £22m over three years for Trafford. These
funding recommendations were accompanied with material conditions for the funding.
Funding for all Bury and Rochdale was approved by SPBE on 9 August 2017, and for
Trafford on 28 September 2017.

RESOLVED/-

1. To note the progress update reported on the Transformation Fund;
2. To note the Executive’s decision to:

To approve a substantive investment in Bury of £19.2m over four years, with phasing to be
set out in the Investment Agreement and paid quarterly in advance:

 2016/17: £1.0m
 2017/18: £7.03m
 2018/19: £6.31m
 2019/20: £4.89m
 Noting that there are material conditions to funding, only to be released upon their

satisfactory completion. These are set out at 2.3.2.

To approve a substantive investment in Rochdale of £23.5m over four years, with phasing
to be set out in the Investment Agreement and paid quarterly in advance:

 2016/17: £0.46m
 2017/18: £6.32m
 2018/19: £14.95m
 2019/20: £2.2m
 Noting that there are material conditions to funding, only to be released upon their

satisfactory completion. These are set out at 3.3.2.

To approve a substantive investment in Trafford of £22m over three years, with phasing to
be set out in the Investment Agreement and paid quarterly in advance:

 2017/18: £4.80m
 2018/19: £13.42m
 2019/20: £3.77m
 Noting that there are material conditions with funding only to be released upon their

satisfactory completion. These are set out at 4.3.2.
Page 24



7

To note the BDO conclusion and revisions to the process to take into account their
recommendations.

SPB 91/17 WINTER PREPAREDNESS

Steve Barnard, Head of Urgent and Emergency Care Service Improvement introduced a
report which provided an overview of the work undertaken by the Partnership and localities to
help mitigate the demands of winter. The report described how the GMHSC Partnership will
provide ongoing support for local systems to ensure they are able to respond effectively to the
demands of winter and continue to provide safe, high quality care to patients. It also set out
the current challenging position of the GM system and identified the ongoing risk in relation to
service delivery over winter.

The key headlines were:

 GMHSC Partnership, in partnership with NHSI, has worked closely with each of the
localities to support the development and ongoing review of plans to help mitigate the
increased demands of winter. There has been additional focus on (and support offered
to) three systems within GM (Bolton, Stockport and North East Sector), which are
considered to be more fragile in the context of achieving the 4 hour performance
standard. The GMHSC Partnership has developed an overarching winter assurance
document, which reflects local planning and nationally identified best practice. The
document also sets out the role of the partnership during winter in terms of operational
support, escalation, winter reporting and assurance.

 From November, the GM UEC Operational Hub will be a key component of the GM-
level of support, when urgent care pressures are experienced within the system. It will
collect, analyse and report key performance and flow information, to support decision
making as part of the escalation processes. It will also act as a single point of contact
for regional and national winter reporting – reducing the burden on local systems.

 A GM winter summit took place earlier that day and was attended by Chief Officers and
senior system leaders from across health, social care and the voluntary sector
attended. The summit offered localities an opportunity to provide an update on their
plans and to discuss ongoing challenges. The GM and locality-level UEC Delivery
Boards continue to meet monthly and monitor progress and provide oversight of the
plans.

The children’s programme for the flu vaccination was discussed and the Chair questioned
whether or not there was a possibility that some parent’s reluctance could be attributed to
previous concerns surrounding other immunizations.  The reasons were thought to be difficult
to understand, however it was believed that the current communication campaign has a good
chance of success and will feature along major gateways and on televised boards in areas
where there is a high footfall.

RESOLVED/-

1. To note the content of the paper in relation to winter preparedness;
2. To support the delivery against the identified priority areas.

Page 25



8

SPB 92/17 GREATER MANCHESTER MODEL FOR URGENT PRIMARY CARE

Dr Tracey Vell, Associate Lead for Primary and Community Care, GMHSC Partnership
introduced a report that provided context regarding urgent and out of hours primary care
reform in Greater Manchester. An overview of progress to date and the proposed future
model for an integrated 24/7 urgent primary care offer was detailed in the paper.

A model which articulates what a reformed, integrated 24/7 urgent primary care offer could
look like with key components that will enable patients to receive the right care, in the right
place in a timely manner while reducing the burden on highly pressurised A&E departments
was described in the report. The new model of urgent and out of hours primary care will
contribute to a reduction in hospital utilisation by reducing avoidable A&E attendances and
subsequent admissions and at the same time assist in community resilience.

The rationale for a GM Model along with the risks, considerations and opportunities including
the next steps, changes for this forthcoming winter and the future ambition were highlighted to
the Board.

Stuart North, Urgent Care Lead for the Association of Clinical Commissioning Groups
(ACCGs) offered support for the approach and confirmed that there had been the appropriate
clinical involvement throughout the process in the development of the model. The key next
steps for health and social care partners in each locality is to implement the recommended
approach and model. In support of this, a group chaired by the Urgent Care Lead for ACCGs
will provide assistance to facilitate the development and mitigate risks identified in the report.

Members offered support for the proposals and requested that local elected members are
provided with a thorough briefing in order to positively explain and address concerns
regarding access to appropriate treatment from members of the public. It was recognised that
this maybe a complex process to understand, however the aim is to provide better
standardisation across all localities. It was recommended that plain English is used in
literature to deliver communication on urgent primary care. A slide pack with a visual
explanation of the process has also been developed which will be considered to support the
development of appropriate patient messages.

A Member brought it to the attention that Tameside and Glossop would be one of the areas
that would not meet the national specification highlighted in section 5.2.2 of the report. This is
due to the fact that the control total has not yet been signed off, and as a result, NHSI will not
release funding for primary care streaming. Despite improvements locally to reduce direct
demand on hospitals and the overwhelming contribution of health and social care staff,
essential capital is required in order to continue to deliver improvements. Support was
requested to continue to improve all services and resolve the release funding.

On behalf of the GM Partnership Jon Rouse explained that he was sympathetic to the fact
that both Tameside and Stockport capital requirements to develop new models of care were
linked to control totals. This has been communicated previously and just recently expressed
to the Prime Minister’s Health Advisor. This will now be followed up by a letter to the
Department of Health (DoH), NHSI, NHSE and Treasury from Lord Peter Smith reiterating the
concerns regarding limiting the ability as a devolved system to make decisions and allocate
resources.

Page 26



9

In offering support for the paper, Primary Care Advisory Group (PCAG) acknowledged their
role in helping to develop and deliver the public message in the community. The involvement
of local social care partners in planning at locality level was considered integral as appropriate
availability of social care support is essential to respond to and meet needs.

RESOLVED/-

1. To note the progress to date including development of future model of 24/7 urgent
primary care;

2. To support the proposed 24/7 urgent primary care model;
3. To note the risks to delivery and considerations which will be picked up as part of the

work of the task and finish group;
4. To agree the deliverables for 2017 and future ambition for GM;
5. To provide effective communication to elected Members in order to provide support for

the model;
6. To develop appropriate communication and engagement of the model for the public.

SPB 93/17 MANCHESTER ARENA INCIDENT RESPONSE

Nicky O’Connor, Chief Operating Officer, GMHSCP, provided a paper which highlighted the
health and care input during the immediate response and recovery phases following on the
Manchester Arena incident on 22 May 2017. This included the delivery of actions within the
Health and Welfare plan focused on identifying and ensuring provision of appropriate
immediate and longer term psychological, physical, practical and social support for those
affected and their families.

Tribute was paid to all public sector and voluntary workers involved in the immediate
emergency response and recovery phase which was described as exemplary.

The immediate health response saw 65 ambulances deployed to the scene of the incident
within 31 minutes. In total 59 individuals were taken to local hospitals depending on their
particular injuries and which hospital was most suitable. The responsibility for the recovery
phased passed to Manchester City Council on 31 May 2017. The health and care response is
providing support to bereaved families, individuals injured as a result of the incident and
public service staff involved in the response. This has been enhanced by the establishment of
the GM Resilience Hub to provide support for people psychologically affected by the incident.
Following the independent review lessons learnt will be used to inform responses to any
potential future incidents.

Geoff Little, Deputy Chief Executive, Manchester CC who has led the Health and Welfare
Group as part of the recovery phase, added to this that, this particular workstream will
continue for as long as is required. Furthermore, where necessary, services will be improved
and support will continue for the survivors. The link between public services to deliver
integrated post discharge assistance for those that received the most severe physical injuries
will also remain in place. It was noted that the web site that has been created to sign post
those affected, will be further developed along with other support networks by the survivors
with expert guidance of Dr Anne Eyre.

The Chair added his appreciation to all those involved in the aftermath of the tragedy and on
the ongoing support for those in need.

Page 27



10

RESOLVED/-

1. To note the health response to the Manchester Arena incident during the immediate
and recovery phases;

2. To note the actions delivered through the Welfare and Health plan in particular the
establishment of the GM Resilience Hub;

3. To note the involvement in the independent review and lessons learnt process which
will influence responses to future incidents;

4. To note the gratitude to all those involved in the aftermath of the tragedy.

SPB 94/17 HEALTH AND HOMELESSNESS

Consideration was given to a report presented by Warren Heppolette, Executive Lead,
Strategy and System Development, which set the background and emerging detail of the
homelessness and health work programme, which supported the wider Greater Manchester
priority with a Mayoral commitment to end rough sleeping and homelessness by 2020.

The paper outlined some of the current challenges and activity in respect of homelessness
and rough sleeping in Greater Manchester and a proposed response from the Health and
Social Care system.

The involvement of the health and care system in delivering support to people experiencing
homelessness was acknowledged to be of critical importance. It was reported that the health
needs of the client group can be acute and both a cause of homelessness and a
consequence of it.

The Strategic Partnership Board were informed of the intended contribution of the health and
care system to end homelessness and rough sleeping. It detailed the Greater Manchester
context and the four principal commitments made by GMHSC Partnership at the meeting of
Reform Board on 6 October 2017. Alongside this, based on evidence and understanding,
some longer term action was proposed, which collectively will provide additional health
service support to people experiencing homelessness. A task and finish group will be
convened over the forthcoming weeks to identify the necessary processes, stakeholders and
mechanisms required to achieve delivery of the commitments.

Members offered support for the report and requested information on the numbers involved in
order to assess if there is likely to be any impact on the issues raised as a result of winter
pressures. It was confirmed that the numbers are small and should not have an immense
consequential impact on delayed transfer of care. It was noted that in some localities, housing
is already embedded in the discharge process and integration with housing should be
standardised across GM.

It was noted that each Local Authority has a significant resource in the commissioning of
housing which addresses and helps to provide housing solutions across the conurbation. It
was suggested that these are included on the proposed task and finish group.

Members expressed concern with regard to the level of engagement and communication
required in order to respond to those individuals sleeping rough and homeless. Likewise the

Page 28



11

possibility of NHS processes being overly bureaucratic and in turn preventing the moral
response referred to.

RESOLVED/-

1. To note and discuss the content of the report;
2. To confirm support for delivery of the commitments made to Reform Board;
3. To support collective engagement with the actions that will emerge from the identified

work areas, to ensure they are successfully implemented.

SPB 95/17 OLDHAM LOCALITY PRESENTATION

Dr Carolyn Wilkins, Oldham Chief Executive introduced a presentation that provided an
overview of the Oldham locality model of Public Sector Reform. The partnership vision and
ambition for improving Oldham’s population health by empowering people and communities,
the case for change, next steps and journey to date were detailed in the presentation.

Thanks were placed on record for the contribution of Denis Gizzi, Chief Officer, Oldham CCG
for his involvement in the development of Oldham’s Local Care Organisation and the wider
Health and Social care system in GM. It was noted that it was his final day in the role and the
Chair extended his appreciation and wished him success in his new role.

Investment, innovation and Oldham’s achievements in establishing the primary care cluster
system and integrating services including a fully integrated hospital discharge team along with
successful local performance were highlighted to the Board.

RESOLVED/-

1. To note the progress provided and update on Oldham Locality Model;
2. To acknowledge the role of Denis Gizzi in the GMHSC Partnership.

SPB 96/17 DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS

Future meeting of the GM Health and Social Care Strategic Partnership Board are arranged
as follows:

Friday 10 November 2017 10.00am Stockport Town Hall

Friday 19 January 2018 10.00am Wigan Town Hall

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Item 03
MINUTES OF THE GREATER MANCHESTER JOINT HEALTH SCRUTINY

COMMITTEE HELD ON 8 NOVEMBER 2017 AT GMCA, CHURGATE HOUSE

Present:

Bolton Council Councillor Shafaqat Shaikh

Bury MBC Councillor Sarah Kerrison

Oldham Council Councillor Colin McLaren

Rochdale BC Councillor Sara Rowbotham

Salford CC Councillor Margaret Morris

Stockport MBC Councillor Laura Booth

Tameside MBC Councillor Yvonne Cartey

Trafford MBC Councillor Patricia Young

Wigan Council Councillor John O’Brien
(Chair)

Also in attendance:

GMCA, Governance Officer Lindsay Dunn
GMCA, Scrutiny Officer Susan Ford
GM H&SC Partnership Warren Heppolette
GM H&SC Partnership Zoe O’Neill
GM H&SC Partnership Angela Osei
GM H&SC Partnership Dr Tracey Vell
GM H&SC Partnership Janet Wilkinson
Wigan, Wrightington & Leigh NHS Trust Alison Balson

HSC/34/17 APOLOGIES

Apologies were received from Councillor Gill Peet (Tameside) and Steven
Pleasant.

HSC/35/17 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest made in relation to any item on the agenda.

Page 31

Agenda Item 9



2

HSC/36/17 MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD 13 SEPTEMBER 2017

The minutes of the meeting held 13 September 2017 were presented for
consideration.

RESOLVED/-

To approve the minutes of the meeting held 13 September 2017.

HSC/37/17 HEALTH AND CARE WORKFORCE

Janet Wilkinson, Director of Workforce, Greater Manchester Health and Social
Care Partnership (GMHSCP), introduced a presentation which provided an
overview of the priorities of the GM Workforce Strategy and the governance
structure which would support the strategy.

Members were informed that the GM workforce programme and emerging
priorities, were established to enable the fastest and most comprehensive
improvements in the capacity and capability of the whole GM workforce, including
those that are unpaid, to support the achievement of the transformation ambitions
as defined in the GM strategic plan and the locality plans. The four strategic
priorities endorsed in the workforce strategy and an overview of the GM Workforce
Collaborative were highlighted to the Committee.

It was noted that the GM Mayor had identified workforce as a key priority and there
had been close alignment between the GM Workforce Strategy and the Mayor’s
manifesto. The strategy also supported the GM Leadership and Development
Programme to further progress competencies and capabilities of staff to lead
services.

In relation to the Workforce Strategy, GM has developed a system wide approach
to nursing recruitment with some encouraging first results. Collaborative work in
this area has seen an 11% increase in student intake against a national reduction
of 6%. The Partnership is expecting to build on this collaborative model and extend
to benefit Social Care, General Practice and mental health where there are
significant staff shortages.

The Workforce Collaborative will also launch its GM Workforce Awards in March
2018 to recognise and reward achievement and best practice.

Members asked what was being done to promote healthcare assistants from level
two to three in order to progress towards becoming nurse practitioners. Alison
Balson, Director of Workforce, Wrightington, Wigan and Leigh Trust explained how
the Cavendish Care qualification provided additional training and opportunities for
healthcare assistants to progress into a career in nursing. The nursing
apprenticeship programme was also discussed and members highlighted that

Page 32



3

some healthcare assistants entering onto the apprenticeship programme may
suffer from reductions in pay and it was suggested therefore, that there should be
different entry points.

A member enquired as to what was being done to attract younger people into the
profession, in particular into Adult Social Care. It was explained that a range of
careers and opportunities are promoted and advertised by the Greater Manchester
NHS Careers and Engagement Hub. The aim of the Hub was to ensure Greater
Manchester residents can benefit from a coordinated and effective system of
careers advice, information and opportunities in health and social care.

It was stated that the Hub will present a unique opportunity for local people,
schools, colleges, education and training providers and employment support
organisations to find out more about the educational and employment opportunities
offered within the NHS. It will provide information about NHS careers, signpost
enquires and coordinate staff involvement and presence at local careers and
engagement events.

With regard to international recruitment, a Member expressed concern with what
was being done to ensure that the recruitment of these individuals was ethical. It
was confirmed that there was not a large scale overseas recruitment drive, it is
however part of a campaign and the international recruitment programme follows
the ethical principles of earn, learn and return.

In respect of the recent reorganisation of Pennine Acute NHS Trust and integration
of staff, members questioned if they would be managed across GM or on an
organisational basis. It was explained these staff would continue to be managed by
the individual organisations.

Members highlighted that social care is largely delivered by the private sector and
queried how these providers would be encouraged to deliver the priorities and
standards of the GM Workforce Collaborative. It was explained that a network of
private providers, particularly the care home sector are engaged with the
collaborative along with volunteers and carers.

The Committee were provided with an overview of staffing implications following
the outcome of the EU Referendum. Analysis had been provided by Health
Education England (HEE) who had reported that there had been no significant
changes since Brexit. However, the Royal College of Nursing (RCN) recently
reported on the impact of the vote to leave the EU on safe staffing levels in the
NHS. This was based on a specific geographical region and it was believed that
the same level of impact will not be felt in GM. It was reported that Wigan,
Wrightington and Leigh Trust had held a focus group with nurses from overseas
who had highlighted that they felt supported and had shown no indication to
suggest that they would consider leaving their roles and the UK.

It was reported that 26% of medical and dental staff and 8.6% of nursing and
midwifery staff working within the NHS in GM are non UK personnel. For medical
and dental staff, 11% of the 1986 non UK personnel have been recruited

Page 33



4

internationally with the vast majority of the others being recruited from other NHS
organisations. 80% of those recruited internationally were from non EU countries
and 60% were employed on temporary, likely to be training contracts.
For nursing & midwifery staff, 24% of the 1765 non UK personnel have been
recruited internationally with the others being recruited from a variety of sources
including other NHS organisations, the private sector and social care. 45% of those
recruited internationally were from EU countries and 97% were employed on
permanent contracts. It was reported that work is underway to understand the
position to a similar level of detail within the Social Care workforce.

Members requested further information on the implications on staffing in the health
and social care sector for Greater Manchester as Brexit negotiations developed. It
was agreed that comparable data by health trust would be monitored and reported
back to the Committee and it was suggested that primary care should also be
incorporated into the analysis.

The Committee were provided with detail on the use of locum doctors across GM.
It was reported that across GM NHS Providers the 2016/17 expenditure on Agency
medical staff was £61 million with 882,000 hours of cover provided. This
represented 2.1% of the combined pay bill of the GM Trusts which was £2.8 billion
and the range of agency spends as a percentage of total pay bill was between
0.35% and 4.83%. It was highlighted that approximately 50% of this expenditure is
on covering junior doctor posts. Further work is ongoing by the Trust HR and
Finance teams to support reductions in this expenditure through validating data,
working collaboratively across Trusts to support best employment practices and
ensure absences are kept to a minimum by working with HEE to maximise fill rates
for junior doctor rotas. Initial discussions were also underway to explore
opportunities to collaborate across the North West and with NHS Improvement
(NHSI) to increase access to an internal medical bank and reduce agency
expenditure.

Members asked what was being done to address the shortfall in capacity to meet
demand and requested further analysis of where the gaps existed and proposals to
address the insufficient numbers available to appoint to permanent positions. The
impact on patient safety by the increase in the use of locum doctors was of
concern to Members. It was agreed that a further update would be provided to the
Committee which would provide further analysis of the key gaps, the contingencies
that exist and the potential implications of continued use of locum doctors.

RESOLVED/-

1. To note the content of the presentation;
2. To provide further information on the implications on staffing in the health

and social care sector for Greater Manchester as Brexit negotiations
develop and;

3. To agree that comparable data by health trust be analysed and reported
back to the Committee;

4. To agree that data for Primary Care be incorporated and reported back to
the Committee;

Page 34



5

5. To provide further analysis of the key recruitment gaps and;
6. To provide details of contingency plans to address the recruitment gaps;
7. To note the comments from Members with regard to the implications of

continued use of locum doctors on patient safety;
8. To provide a further update to the Committee following further analysis of

key gaps and measures to address the shortfall following the principles of
ethical recruitment.

HSC/38/17 PRIMARY CARE TRANSFORMATION – GM MODEL FOR
URGENT PRIMARY CARE

Dr Tracey Vell, Associate Lead for Primary and Community Care, GMHSC
Partnership provided the Committee with an overview of the GM model of 24/7
Urgent Primary Care.

An outline of the ambition, progress to date and the proposed future model for an
integrated 24/7 urgent primary care offer was detailed in the presentation.

A model which articulated what a reformed, integrated 24/7 urgent primary care
offer could look like with key components that would enable patients to receive the
right care, in the right place in a timely manner while reducing the burden on highly
pressurised A&E departments was described to the Committee.

It was reported that the new model of urgent and out of hours primary care would
contribute to a reduction in hospital utilisation by reducing avoidable A&E
attendances and subsequent admissions.

The Committee were provided with an update and overview of the Urgent
Treatment Centres which would be primary care led, open 12 hours a day of which
there will be one in each locality. Access to diagnostics would be available in each
centre and there would be access to the full clinical patient record.

Members welcomed the update provided and discussed transferable data with
regard to patient records and diagnostic testing. The Committee highlighted that
investment would be required in telephony in GP surgeries and the training of
reception staff in triage in order to provide patients with the relevant treatment and
advice. The infrastructure of the Urgent Treatment Centres was discussed along
with the integration of community nursing with social services to address life
outcomes. Consideration was requested to provide appropriate communication to
those communities where English is not the first language and the elderly.

RESOLVED/-

1. To note the update provided;
2. To note the feedback and comments from the Committee.

Page 35



6

HSC/39/17 GREATER MANCHESTER STRATEGY AND IMPLEMENTATION
PLAN

Warren Heppolette, Executive Lead, Strategy and System Development introduced
a report that provided the Committee with a draft of the refreshed Greater
Manchester Strategy (GMS) Implementation Plan.

Scrutiny members were requested to review the actions contained in the
Implementation Plan to be delivered in the next six months. It was noted that while
the actions under each of the ten GMS priorities are linked to health outcomes,
priority 9 is specifically related to health, with the actions being taken from the
Health and Social Care Partnership’s business plan, approved by the Partnership
Board.

Members expressed an interest in a co-ordinated approach to address the health
inequalities that currently exist across the conurbation. It was suggested that the
GM Population Health Plan 2017-2021, should be circulated to the Committee
which would provide demographic data on health inequalities and long term
conditions.

Members discussed the links between health and housing and it was suggested
that options to ensure housing is adaptable for ‘ageing better’ should be a feature
of the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework.

RESOLVED/-

1. To note the content of the GMS Implementation Plan;
2. To agree that future performance reports and performance dashboards be

brought to the GM Joint Health Scrutiny Committee once completed;
3. To circulate the GM Population Health Plan 2017-2021 to the Committee for

consideration.

HSC/40/17 DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS

The GM Joint Health Scrutiny Committee will next meet on Wednesday 10 January
2018.

Page 36



 

HEALTH AND WELL BEING BOARD 
12/12/2017 at 2.00 pm 

 
 

Present: Councillors Harrison, Moores and Price 
 

 Also in Attendance: 
 Oliver Collins Principal Policy Officer, Oldham 

Metropolitan Borough Council, 
OMBC 

 Jon Aspinall Manchester Fire and Rescue 
Services 

 Chief Supt. Neil Evans Greater Manchester Police 
 Dan Lythgoe Pennine Care Foundation Trust 
 Dave Smith First Choice Homes Oldham 
 Alan Higgins Director of Public Health, OMBC 
 Dr. Keith Jeffery Oldham Clinical Commissioning 

Group (CCG) 
 Stuart Lockwood Oldham Community Leisure 
 Noreen Dowd Oldham CCG 
 Dr. Ian Wilkinson Oldham CCG 
 Liz Windsor-Welsh Voluntary Action Oldham  
 Julie Daines Oldham CCG 
 Donna McLaughlin Oldham Care Organisation 
 Nicola Firth Oldham Care Organisation 
 Fabiola Fuschi Constitutional Services Officer, 

OMBC 
 

 

1   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Chauhan 
and Dearden, Maggie Kufeldt, Jill Beaumont, Carolyn Wilkins, 
Becky Sutcliffe, Mark Warren.  
 
In the absence of Councillor Dearden, Dr. Ian Wilkinson chaired 
the meeting. 
 
The Board Members were informed of the retirement of Cath 
Green, Chief Executive for First Choice Homes Oldham. Cath 
sent her thanks to the Health and Wellbeing Board for its 
support throughout the years and praised its work and 
achievements. Members of the Board asked for their thanks and 
best wishes to be passed to Cath. 
 

2   URGENT BUSINESS   

There were no items of urgent business received. 

3   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

There were no declarations of interest received. 

4   PUBLIC QUESTION TIME   

There were no public questions received.  

5   MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING   

Page 37

Agenda Item 10



 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Health and Wellbeing Board 
meeting held on 19th September 2017 be approved as a correct 
record. 
 

6   MINUTES OF THE HEALTH SCRUTINY SUB-COMMITTEE   

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Health Scrutiny Sub-
Committee meetings held on 4th July 2017 and 26th September 
2017 be noted.  

7   JOINT STRATEGIC NEEDS ASSESSMENT (JSNA) SUB-
GROUP MINUTES  

 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessments sub-group meeting held on 23rd November 2017 
be noted.  

8   ACTION LOG   

RESOLVED that the Action Log for the Health and Wellbeing 
Board meeting held in September 2017 be noted.  

9   MEETING OVERVIEW   

RESOLVED that the meeting overview be noted.  

10   PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT   

Consideration was given to the Public Health Annual report 
written by the Director of Public Health who attended the 
meeting to present the information and address the enquiries of 
the Committee.  
 
The report offered a picture of Oldham’s population, where they 
lived and what they did in terms of employment. The information 
had been gathered from available statistics mainly published by 
Oldham Council in the last five years. It included a breakdown of 
the population by age, ethnicity, information about what 
residents thought about living in Oldham, about volunteering, 
about the major employers, transport and housing. The report 
looked at the health and wellbeing profile of Oldham as product 
of the interaction of these wide range of factors.  
 
Members sought and received clarification / commented on the 
following points: 

– Partnership work and continuity of focus and action 
following the publication of the report – Reassurance was 
given on the fact that the imminent changes in Public 
Health leadership would not affect the work undertaken 
with Council’s partners to improve the health and 
wellbeing of Oldham’s residents.  

 
The Board commended the report and congratulated its author 
and the rest of the team who worked on it. It was acknowledged 
that the user friendly language of the document made it not just 
a statutory requirement, but a working tool which residents and 
professionals could continue to refer to when engaging in 
discussions and actions about health and wellbeing in Oldham.  

 
 Page 38



 

RESOLVED that: 
1. The Health and Wellbeing Board receive the Public 

Health Annual report; 
2. The recommendations of the report be incorporated into 

all future work programmes.  
 

11   MH:2K & SCHOOL MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES IN 
OLDHAM  

 

Consideration was given to a presentation on the MH:2K 
programme and the wider Mental Health service offer for 
children in school at Oldham.   
The Youth Services Manager, the Public Health Specialist and 
the representative of the MH:2K young people reference group 
attended the meeting to present the information and address the 
enquiries of the Board Members.  
 
It was explained that MH:2K was a pilot project that had been 
delivered in Oldham from September 2016 until June 2017 to 
enable young people to explore mental health issues and 
influence decision-making in their local area.  
 
Twenty young people had been recruited to become the first 
MH:2K Citizen Researchers. Five key priorities had been 
selected to be addressed through the pilot: Self-harm, Stigma, 
Professional Practice, Family and Relationships, the 
Environment and Culture and Education.  
 
The team had delivered roadshow events to schools, colleges 
and community groups across Oldham. The findings had been 
compiled in a report with clear recommendations. Following 
publication of the report, the Children and Young People 
Emotional Wellbeing and Mental Health Partnership had led on 
a mapping exercise to collate what work had already been 
undertaken in Oldham that contributed to the recommendations 
as well as capturing any emerging actions as a direct result of 
the MH:2K work. The information had been collated into a 
developing action plan.  
 
The Board was informed of the key actions carried out by the 
young people who took part in the pilot; this included 
involvement with the National MH:2K advisory panel in 
supporting other authorities in developing MH:2K in their areas.  
 
The Challenges and the opportunities associated to the outcome 
of the pilot were outlined. Amongst these, the prospect to link 
the implementation of the action plan with the developing work 
concerning the Government Green Paper – Transforming 
Children and Young People’s Mental Health Provision – that set 
out the ambition that children and young people who need help 
with their mental health would be able to get it when they need 
it. Oldham was one of the Opportunity Areas Programme to help 
local children get the best start in life and access high quality 
education and to promote social mobility.  
 

Page 39



 

The Board was also informed of The Whole School and College 
Approach to Emotional Health and Mental Wellbeing. This 
scheme was part of the Opportunity Areas Programme to 
support schools to tackle mental health issues as soon as they 
became evident. Several schools and organisations in Oldham 
were involved with this project.  
 
Members sought and received clarification / commented on the 
following points: 

– Risk factors associated with the programme – 
reassurance was given that a risk analysis had been 
carried out and measures would be put in place to 
maintain a safe environment for children and young 
people.  

– The combined projects represented an opportunity for the 
Mental Health Strategy to reach outside the social care 
system.  

 
RESOLVED that: 

1. The recommendations from the MH:2K developing action 
plan and the support implementation of these, as outlined 
in the report, be noted; 

2. The ongoing work to support schools and colleges to 
implement the emotional health and mental wellbeing 
framework be noted.  

 

12   ROYAL OLDHAM HOSPITAL   

Consideration was given to a presentation of the Oldham Care 
Organisation Management Team on the work of the Northern 
Care Alliance. The presentation included the outline of the 
action plan for the Pennine Acute Hospitals, following the results 
of the Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspection in 2016. 
 
The Oldham Care Organisation Management Team was in 
attendance to present the information and address the enquiries 
of the Board.  
 
It was explained that the Northern Care Alliance was the largest 
healthcare organisation across Greater Manchester and the 
North West, with 17,000 members of staff operating across five 
hospitals and serving a population of 1 million people.  
 
The benefits of the group were outlined such as delivering 
services that were: 

– Evidence based and of the highest quality;  
– Highly reliable – high quality whatever the day of the 

week or hour of the day; 
– At scale - creating benefits for people through 

standardisation of best practice; 
–  Trusted - providing safe, effective and compassionate 

services;  
– Connected – delivering what matters most to people and 

communities.  
 
The Board was informed of the Alliance’s priorities. These were: Page 40



 

– Pursue Quality Improvement to assure safe, reliable and 
compassionate care; 

– Deliver mandatory standards; 
– Support staff to deliver high performance and 

improvement; 
– Improve care and services through integration and 

collaboration; 
– Deliver financial plan to assure sustainability; 
– Implement enabling strategies.  

 
With regards to the Pennine Improvement Plan, it was explained 
that an investment of £17.5m had been put in place to support 
the improvement journey. The main components of the Clinical 
Services Strategy were outlined; they aimed to improve quality 
of care, address the CQC findings, support the wider Greater 
Manchester devolution agenda, meet future population needs, 
deliver seven day services standards and provision, deliver the 
Healthier Together standards and support the creation of a 
Single Hospital Service for the city of Manchester. The Board 
was also informed of the distribution of services across Royal 
Oldham, North Manchester, Fairfield General and Rochdale 
Infirmary. 
 
Members sought and received clarification / commented on the 
following points: 

– Meaning of “Northern” alliance – it was explained that the 
term referred to a large care organisation comprising of 
Salford Royal Hospital and the Pennine Acute Hospitals. 
A Group “Committees in Common” was in place to 
operate the new alliance. The two hospital trusts 
remained statutory bodies. However, the “Committee in 
Common” effectively managed the two trusts.  

– Significant changes and connection with local 
communities – it was explained that a framework was in 
place for the development of key services. 
Commissioners and providers worked together as a 
sector in order to deliver what was necessary for the local 
population.  

– Need to connect with the primary community and use of 
wider consultation and engagement.  

 
RESOLVED that the content of the presentation on the Northern 
Care Alliance and the Pennine Improvement Plan be noted.  
 

13   DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING   

RESOLVED that the next meeting of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board take place on 23rd January 2018 at 2 pm.  
 
The chair wished to put on record the Board’s thanks and best 
wishes to Alan Higgins, Director of Public health, who is leaving 
Oldham after 15 years.  
 
 

The meeting started at 2.00 pm and ended at 3.00 pm 
 Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

 

Oldham Health Scrutiny Subcommittee  
20th March 

6pm – 8pm  

Crompton Suite, Civic Centre, Oldham  

 

No Item Time 

1-12 Apologies, Declarations of Interest, Urgent Business, Public Question Time,  
Minutes of Previous Meeting, GM Health and Social Care Partnership 
Minutes, Greater Manchester Joint Health Scrutiny Committee, Joint Health 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee for Pennine Care Foundation Trust, Joint 
Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee for Pennine Acute Hospitals Trust,  
Health and Wellbeing Board Minutes, Meeting Overview, Action Log   
Chair   

 

6.00pm 

 

Items for Discussion 

13 Urgent Primary Care 

Mark Drury, Head of Public Affairs, Oldham CCG  

Mark will provide an update as to the decision taken by the CCG regarding 

the Urgent Primary Care consultation in late 2017  

6.05pm 
15 mins 

14 Development of the Integrated Care Organisation 

Mark Warren, Director of Adult Social Care 

For the sub-committee to receive a report, outlining how the ICO Alliance 
will operate, and what it will mean for residents of Oldham. 
 

6.20pm 
40 mins 

15 Bridgewater NHS Trust 

Michelle Bradshaw, Assistant Director of Operations,  Bridgewater 

Community Health Foundation Trust and Tracey Harrison, Senior Planning 

& Commissioning Manager, Oldham Council 

For the sub-committee to receive a progress report on the Right Start 
service provided by Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Trust, and to 
discuss any aspects of the trusts CQC action plan that may impact on 
Oldham. 
 

7.00pm 
40 mins 

16 Children’s Safeguarding Task Group 
Oliver Collins, Principal Policy Officer 
 
For the sub-committee to receive a progress report on the Child 
Safeguarding Task and Finish Group. 
 

7.40pm 
10 mins 

17 Mayor’s Healthy Living Campaign 
Oliver Collins, Principal Policy Officer 
 
For the sub-committee to receive a progress report on the Mayor’s Healthy 
Living Campaign. 
 

7.50pm 
10 mins 

Agenda 

Page 43

Agenda Item 11



 
 

 

 

18 Council Motions 
Chair 
 
For the sub-committee to receive an update on the progress of Health 
related Council motions. 
 

8.00pm 
10 mins 

19 Health Scrutiny Forward Plan 2018/19 
Chair 
 

8.10pm 
 
 

 Close 
Chair 

 

 

Page 44



Actions from the January meeting of the Health Scrutiny Subcommittee 
 

 Agenda Item Resolution / Action Outcome of Action 

January AIR QUALITY  1. The findings of the consultation on the 
national Air Quality Action Plan (October 
2018) be reported to this Committee. 
 

2. The Senior Environmental Health Officer 
liaise with the Senior Arboricultural and 
Countryside Officer to explore the 
possibility to carry out a piece of work to 
identify the most effective species of 
trees to counteract air pollution. 
 

3. The Senior Environmental Health Officer 
liaise with the Corporate Policy 
Development Officer to begin a project 
in June 2018 to evaluate the links 
between behaviour changes, reducing 
air pollution and effects on people’s 
health and wellbeing. The outcomes of 
the project be reported to this 
Committee. 

Action 1 added to the committee’s work 
programme 
 
 
Action 2 – A report is due to be published 
soon regarding the current ecology of Oldham 
and what more can be done to improve and 
diversify it. This will be shared with the sub-
committee at the next time Air Quality is 
presented. 
 
Action 3 – task added to the work programme 
for the Air Quality sub-group. Progress report 
will be shared with the Health Scrutiny 
committee at the earliest opportunity. 

 PENNINE CARE 

FOUNDATION TRUST - 

CARE QUALITY 

COMMISSION REPORT 

AND ACTION PLAN 

PROGRESS 

UPDATE 

1. A progress report be presented in 
January 2019, including information on 
the measures in place to monitor quality 
and manage the budget deficit of the 
Trust. 

Item added to the sub-committee’s forward 
plan for 2018/19 

 

 

P
age 45

A
genda Item

 12



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 
BRIEFING TO OLDHAM HEALTH SCRUTINY SUB-
COMMITTEE 
 
Report Title: Urgent Primary Care 

 

Report Author:  Mark Drury, Head of Public Affairs, Oldham CCG   
 
Date: 20th March 2018 
 
1. Introduction 
 
The purpose of this paper is to inform the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
about the outcome of the recent public consultation on the future model for urgent 
primary care in Oldham  and the subsequent decisions taken by CCG Governing 
Body on implementing the changes. 
 
An Equality Health Impact Assessment has been conducted as part of this work 
which was received by Governing Body on 5 October 2017. This identified the most 
likely differential impacts being upon people with disabilities or low incomes who may 
be adversely affected by the change of location of services. The consultation group 
work targeted these groups to further understand the scale of impact and identify 
mitigating actions where possible. 
 
2. Case for change 
 
It has become increasingly evident to the CCG that arrangements for urgent primary 
care are not working as well as they could. 
 
The Walk in Service at the Integrated Care Centre opened in November 2009, to 
provide additional urgent primary care access and stop patients going to A&E who 
could be better cared for outside hospital. It has proved to be a popular and well used 
service. However, the main downsides to this single centrally-located, turn-up-and-
wait-to-be-seen service have proved to be:  
 

 Patients who would otherwise have self managed their minor ailments at 
home, seen their local pharmacist or waited to see their own GP have decided 
to go to the Walk in Service instead.  

 It attracts a significant number of patients who live outside the borough of 
Oldham.  

 It is not equally accessible by all residents across the borough.  

 A lack of bookable appointments and, at times, long waits to be seen. 

 The Walk in Service is not linked into the clinical systems of either patients’ 
own GPs or the hospital, leading to fragmented care and the need to 
repeatedly take medical histories. 

 A lack of access to diagnostic systems such as x-rays and blood tests, and 
additional support such as community services, mental health teams, the 

Page 47

Agenda Item 13



 

 

voluntary sector, housing etc. 

 And perhaps most importantly it has not solved the issues it set out to fix – 
many patients still have difficulty seeing a GP urgently and A&E continues to 
be used by patients who could have been treated in primary care. 
 

There are a rising number of patients attending A&E, GPs and community services 
often with multiple complex medical conditions, leading to rising pressures in both 
A&E and general practice. These patients need coordinated care and support from 
other agencies in health and social care. In times of crisis GPs and A&E doctors 
need the time to focus on these vulnerable and sick patients. 
 
However, numbers of patients attending A&E and GP services for minor conditions 
that could be treated by self-care or advice from community pharmacists are also 
rising. We have to look at how we use our resources most effectively to stabilise 
service and meet the ever growing demand.  
 
Greater Manchester Devolution brings with it both encouragement to innovate and 
financial support to bring about clinically-led change across health and social care - 
including urgent primary care.  
 
This is reinforced by national NHS England guidance (must do’s) around providing 
urgent care across the country, managing primary care patients in A&E and Urgent 
Treatment Service standards.  
 
The development of Oldham’s ICO brings together the whole of the health and social 
care and gives us the potential to take a more holistic approach, building joined-up 
services around patients and linking into the voluntary sector and local communities.  
These new ways of thinking within the Health and Social care system have made us 
question whether we can deliver urgent primary care in Oldham in a better way. 
 
Therefore the CCG identified a need to develop proposals to address these issues 
and take advantage of the emerging opportunities. 
 
3. Options 
 
Two options were set out in detail in the prospectus document: 
 
Option WI (Walk-in) 
 

Currently there is a Walk in Service at the Integrated Care Centre which 
houses GPs and health services. It offers urgent treatment on a turn up and 
wait basis. 

 
Option HU (Urgent Care Hubs) 
 

The CCG has proposed the creation of a number of Urgent Care Hubs located 
around Oldham offering bookable urgent treatment appointments. GPs would 
work with local people to determine the best locations for these hubs in each 
community. 

 

Page 48

http://www.oldhamccg.nhs.uk/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=z4wE3f5Xiu4%3d&portalid=0


 

 

The option for consultees to suggest their own proposal for delivering urgent primary 
in Oldham was also given in the prospectus. 
 
Both options were set out with detail in the prospectus, though it is recognised that 
the nature of face-to-face surveying means that those responding through this route 
are likely to understood less detail about the proposals than those completing the 
survey online or participating in group work. 
 
4. Outcomes 
 
The UPCOG Group met on 8 January 2018 to review the outcomes from the 
consultation and agree recommendations for Governing Body. This meeting was 
attended by clinical representatives from the Clusters, members of the CCG’s 
Management Executive Team as well as the usual members. 
 
Overall, 58% of the 2,493 consultees who expressed a preference in the main 
survey opted for Urgent Care Hubs, as opposed to 42% who would wish to 
retain a Walk In Service. 
 
This includes at least 326 consultees from each cluster as well as 434 from areas 
immediately outside Oldham, unknown, unregistered or preferring not to say. 
 
Excluding the non-Oldham registered patients the majority is reduced for Urgent 
Care Hubs only very slightly to 57.5%. This is somewhat surprising as these non-
residents would not be able to access bookable appointments at the Hubs. 
 
Consultees in all 5 Clusters expressed a majority for Urgent Care Hubs. Support was 
strongest in the Central cluster and weakest in East and West Oldham: 
 

 Walk in Service 
Urgent Care 
Hubs 

North 41% 58% 
South 42% 58% 
East 45% 55% 
West 45% 55% 
Central 40% 60% 
 
All 54 of those who expressed a view in the online survey opted for Urgent Care 
Hubs. These patients would have had the opportunity to read the prospectus before 
answering, suggesting that the more the public know about the Urgent Care Hub 
proposal, the more they favour it. 
 
The overall feeling from the group work was also in favour of Urgent Care Hubs, 
although with some concerns expressed which are detailed in the next section.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     
 
Overall this was seen by UPCOG as an endorsement of the CCG’s recommended 
proposal for ‘a number of Urgent Care Hubs located around Oldham offering 
bookable urgent treatment appointments’ and UPCOG therefore supported that 
option.  
 

Page 49



 

 

It was emphasised that Clusters will need to ensure the local implementation of this 
approach reflects local needs by making use of the cluster-level consultation outputs 
and engaging further with their local populations. However, a number of issues were 
identified which required mitigating actions: 
 
 
4.1 Location/access 
 
The data shows that those with a disability or caring responsibilities and older people 
are more likely to support the retention of a walk-in service than the public as a 
whole. 
 
There is a particularly marked difference by age between those favouring the idea of 
care being provided in a single location – with 77% of under 18’s preferring multiple 
locations and 54% of older people supporting one single central location. 
 
The group work suggested that some vulnerable people finding the idea of a tangible 
service in a fixed location which they already know and where they can be sure they 
will be seen, reassuring. For example, a person with COPD may be attracted to the 
idea of a place they know they can go to if their condition flares up, without having to 
seek permission or overcome any gatekeepers in the system. 
 
To mitigate against this, two measures were agreed: 
 

4.1.1 In planning the roll out of the model, Clusters should consider whether 
the provision of an element of ‘walk in’ access is desirable/practicable within 
the local Urgent Care Hub model in addition to urgent bookable appointments. 
 
4.1.2 The communications for the roll out of the proposal should be 
comprehensive in scope and  specifically target and reassure vulnerable 
groups. It should present the changes in the context of the wider ICO work 
and emerging cluster model. 

 
It should also be remembered that the ICC is where it is specifically because it is a 
central location easily accessed by public transport (i.e. adjacent to the bus station). 
Some of the people we spoke with in the group work explained that for them, a bus 
journey into Oldham was much easier than some journeys within their Cluster area. 
This was particularly the case in Saddleworth.  
 
Access to car parking was seen as more important than public transport (particularly 
by people of working age) which is likely to reflect the fact most people would travel 
to urgent care by car. 
 

4.1.3 To mitigate against this:, the clusters should take into account the 
availability of both public transport and car parking in deciding where Hubs 
should be based, and potentially how many locations are needed.  This should 
form part of their conversations with PPGs and the wider local public and 
could involve the use of tools such as Mapumental or TravelTime. 

 
 
4.2 Booking appointments 

Page 50

https://mapumental.com/
https://www.traveltimeplatform.com/


 

 

 
One aspect of the CCG’s proposal which was not well supported by a majority in any 
age group was the idea of calling one’s GP practice as the Single Point of Entry. 70% 
of consultees preferred the idea of having a specific phone number to call for urgent 
appointments. 
 
Our face-to-face group work suggests this reflects concerns about difficulties getting 
through to practices by phone and the worry that one may struggle to get past 
practice staff to obtain an appointment. 
 
This was discussed by the UPCOG Group who recognised this concern but felt the 
Single Point of Entry was intrinsic to the Urgent Care Hub proposal. Therefore the 
following mitigation was agreed that: 
 

4.2.1 Clusters should consider steps required to ensure the process of making 
urgent appointments via practices is as easy for patients as possible and 
patients enjoy a positive experience of making appointments. 

 
 
5. Conclusion 
 
In conclusion, the CCG has heard the views of the public on the future of urgent 
primary care in Oldham. There is a consensus that the current model is no longer the 
best it can be. A majority agree that the provision of local, bookable urgent 
appointments in primary care is the way forward.  
 
We have also heard concerns, particularly amongst some vulnerable people about 
the loss of walk in appointments, location and accessibility, and ease of making 
appointments and the CCG will seek to address thee concerns by enabling Clusters 
to customise their urgent care offer while ensuring core characteristics are met. 
 
The CCG’s Governing Body has agreed to proceed with the proposal for ‘a number 
of Urgent Care Hubs located around Oldham offering bookable urgent treatment 
appointments’, and initiate work to implement this, ensuring compliance with 
the Greater Manchester Model of 24/7 Urgent Primary Care and national Urgent 
Treatment Centre standards, enabling the Clusters to implement the service 
specification mindful of local needs and circumstances. Core characteristics to 
include: 
 

 Consistent opening times 

 Consistent single point of entry 

 Direct booking by NHS 111 or Royal Oldham A&E front end 

 Information sharing (access to patients’ records) 

 Consistent KPIs (urgent treatment standards plus any local KPIs to be agreed) 

 Participation in joint clinical governance for the Urgent Treatment Service as a 
whole 

 
Governing Body also agreed the following additions to the original proposal: 
 

Page 51



 

 

 In planning the roll out of the model, Clusters should consider whether the 
provision of an element of ‘walk in’ access is desirable/practicable within the 
local Urgent Care Hub model in addition to urgent bookable appointments. 

 

 The communications for the roll out of the proposal should be comprehensive 
in scope and specifically target and reassure vulnerable groups. It should 
present the changes in the context of the wider ICO work and emerging 
cluster model. 

 

 Clusters should take into account the availability of both public transport and 
car parking in deciding where Hubs should be based, and potentially how 
many locations are needed.  This should form part of their conversations with 
PPGs and the wider local public 

 
o Clusters should consider steps required to ensure the process of 

making urgent appointments via practices is as easy for patients as 
possible and patients enjoy a positive experience of making 
appointments. 

 

 
Ask of the Health Scrutiny Sub-Committee 
 
The sub-committee is asked to note the update.  
 

Page 52



1 

 

 
 
BRIEFING TO OLDHAM HEALTH SCRUTINY SUB-
COMMITTEE 
 
Report Title: Development of the Integrated Care 
Organisation 

 

Report Author:  Mark Warren  
 
Date: 20th March 2018 
 
The development of the Integrated Care Organisation (ICO) remains a key aspect of 
Oldham’s reconfiguration and integration of the local Health & Social Care system, 
driven through the Local Care Organisation. The integration of front-line services will 
aim to provide quality, co-ordinated care within a community setting to residents as 
and when they need it. In turn, it is hoped this model will help alleviate the extreme 
pressure being seen at the Royal Oldham Hospital A & E department, with over 300 
attendances a day being recorded on average, and the resulting pressure that level 
of attendance is putting onto the social and community care system with regards to 
the discharging and ongoing provision of care to the individual. 
 
Mark Warren will provide an update on the progress made on the development of the 
Integrated Care Organisation and the work to develop the five integrated cluster 
teams. 
 
Ask of the Health Scrutiny Sub-Committee 
 
The sub-committee is asked to note the update and progress made in developing the 
Integrated Care Organisation and to agree as to when the most appropriate time for 
a further update to be received is. 
 

Page 53

Agenda Item 14



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

  
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
Purpose of the Report 
 
To provide an update on:  
  

- Implementation of the Right Start Service  
- Performance reporting and emerging outcomes 
- The impact of the Trust’s CQC inspection findings and subsequent action plan on 

the Right Start service in Oldham.  
 
Executive Summary 
 
On 1st April 2017 the new integrated delivery model for Oldham Early Years Offer – Right 
Start and School Nursing Service was brought together from a number of providers into a 
single service delivered by Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Trust.  The aim of the 
service is to tackle a number of key early childhood outcomes through the delivery of a 
number of statutory functions.  They are: 
 
Statutory functions: 
 

 Health vising mandated visits 

 Healthy child programme 0-5, 5-19 

 Children’s Centres 
 

Report to HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  

 
Bridgewater NHS Trust 
 

Portfolio Holder:  
Cllr Eddie Moores – Cabinet Member for  Health and Well Being 
 
Officer Contact:   Tracey Harrison – Senior Planning and 
Commissioning Manager  
 
Report Author: Oliver Collins 
Ext. x 1295 
 
20th March 2018 

Page 55

Agenda Item 15



 

 
Outcomes 
 

 Child development at 2-2.5 years 

 Prevalence of breastfeeding at 6-8 weeks 

 Improvement following a package of care delivered at universal/universal plus 

 Take up of 2 year old entitlement 
 
As we move towards the end of year two of the arrangements, it is timely to provide an 
update on the progress made. 
 
In addition, in early 2017, Bridgewater Trust were the subject of a trust wide CQC 
inspection. The outcome of the inspection was as follows. (Full report can be found at 
Appendix 1).

 
 
The trust has developed an action plan to address the areas of concern identified by the 
CQC.  
 
Recommendations 
 
For Health Scrutiny committee to consider this report and support the continuing 
programme of transformation being undertaken within the service. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 56



Core services inspected CQC registered location CQC location ID

Urgent Care Services Bevan House

Community Inpatient Services Bevan House

Community Dental Services Bevan House

Community Health Services for
Adults

Bevan House

Community Health Services for
Children, Young People and Families

Bevan House

Community Sexual Health Services Bevan House

Community End of Life Care Bevan House

This report describes our judgement of the quality of care at this provider. It is based on a combination of what we
found when we inspected, information from our ‘Intelligent Monitoring’ system, and information given to us from
people who use services, the public and other organisations.

BridgBridgeewwataterer CommunityCommunity
HeHealthcalthcararee NHSNHS FFoundationoundation
TTrustrust
Quality Report

Bevan House,
17 Beecham Court,
Smithy Brook Road,
Wigan,
WN3 6PR
Tel: 01942 482630
Website: http://www.bridgewater.nhs.uk/

Date of inspection visit: 31 May – 3 June 2016
Date of publication: 06/02/2017

1 Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust Quality Report 06/02/2017

Page 57



Ratings
We are introducing ratings as an important element of our new approach to inspection and regulation. Our ratings will
always be based on a combination of what we find at inspection, what people tell us, our Intelligent Monitoring data
and local information from the provider and other organisations. We will award them on a four-point scale: outstanding;
good; requires improvement; or inadequate.

Overall rating for community health
services at this provider Requires improvement –––

Are services safe? Requires improvement –––

Are services effective? Requires improvement –––

Are services caring? Good –––

Are services responsive? Good –––

Are services well-led? Requires improvement –––

Summary of findings

2 Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust Quality Report 06/02/2017

Page 58



Contents

PageSummary of this inspection
Overall summary                                                                                                                                                                                           4

Our inspection team                                                                                                                                                                                    7

Why we carried out this inspection                                                                                                                                                        7

How we carried out this inspection                                                                                                                                                        7

Information about the provider                                                                                                                                                               8

Areas for improvement                                                                                                                                                                               8

Detailed findings from this inspection
Findings by our five questions                                                                                                                                                                  9

Summary of findings

3 Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust Quality Report 06/02/2017

Page 59



Overall summary
When aggregating ratings, our inspection teams follow a
set of principles to ensure consistent decisions. The
principles will normally apply but will be balanced by
inspection teams using their discretion and professional
judgement in the light of all of the available evidence.

Letter from the Chief Inspector of Hospitals

We last inspected this trust in April 2014 as part of the
pilot project of our new comprehensive inspection
methodology. We did not rate the Trust at that time.

However we told the trust that they must make
improvements to:

• Incident reporting and learning from incidents.
• Ensuring all staff had appropriate safeguarding

training.
• Improving the standard of record keeping and IT

systems.

We carried out an announced comprehensive inspection
of this trust between 31 May –3 June 2016 and an
unannounced inspection on 16 June 2016 to make sure
improvements had been made and to rate the service. As
part of the inspection, we assessed the leadership and
governance arrangements at the trust and inspected the
all core services provided by the trust:

• Community Health Services for Adults.
• Community Services for Children, Young People and

Families.
• Community Inpatient Services.
• Community Dentistry Services.
• Community Sexual Health Services.
• Urgent Care Services.
• Community Midwifery Services.
• Community End of Life Services.

Before carrying out the inspection, we reviewed a range
of information we held and asked other organisations to
share what they knew about the trust and its services.
These included local clinical commissioning groups
(CCGs), NHS Trust Development Authority (TDA), NHS
England, Health Education England (HEE), and the
General Medical Council (GMC), the Nursing and
Midwifery Council (NMC) and the Royal colleges. Patients
also shared information about their experiences of

community services via comment cards that we left in
various community locations across the Halton, Oldham,
Southport, St. Helens, Warrington, Wigan Borough and
Trafford areas.

Since the last inspection, there had been a number of
changes to senior staff at the organisation and there had
been a concerted effort to improve the culture and
support for staff, which was evident in the majority of
services at the time of the inspection.

The trust had developed a transformation programme
that had led to services being delivered within a
framework of localities across the trust’s geographical
footprint.

It was evident that the trust had sought to address the
findings of our last inspection and improvements had
been made in some areas. However in some cases
progress in making the necessary changes was slow with
a lack of consistency across the trust and services. Some
services required further improvement and were still not
meeting important targets, such as those for the healthy
child programme, the development of the end of life
strategy and the implementation of consistent IT systems
across the trust.

Our key findings were as follows:

• At this inspection we saw significant improvements in
culture especially in inpatient services.

• Staffing had improved in the community since the last
inspection but there were some concerns about the
number of staff in children’s and young persons
services particularly consultant paediatricians.

• Performance against key metrics in the Healthy Child
Programme had improved but progress had been very
slow and performance was still below key national
targets.

• Waiting times in the community adults and the
children, young people and families’ service had
improved in some areas but not in all.

• An example of this was the trust reported that 200
children, in St Helens that had been transferred care
from another trust, in November 2015, had not been
reviewed by a community paediatrician. The trust
developed an action plan that stated that all children
needing review would be seen by the 31 July 2016.

Summary of findings

4 Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust Quality Report 06/02/2017

Page 60



• In Urgent Care and Walk-in Centres there was a lack of
uniform triage processes that met with national
guidance.

• The trust medicines strategy expired in 2013. We were
told that the strategy, standard operating policy and
terms of reference would be reviewed when the new
head of medicines management started in June 2016.

• We found unsafe practise regarding the prescribing of
end of life medication because it was open to mistake
or abuse.

• The trust’s visions and values were widely understood
and visible across services however end of life, dental,
midwifery and children’s and young people’s services
did not have clear embedded service specific strategy,
vision and values.

• The governance systems needed to be improved in
some key areas to ensure that the trust are using all
available information to measure quality and drive
improvement in services.

We saw several areas of outstanding practice including:

Community Services for Adults

The matrons at Wigan worked with the North West
Ambulance Service (NWAS) utilising the community care
pathways (CCPs). The community care pathway consisted
of a yellow folder containing the patients care plan; their
medication and medical history. The community care
plan was left at the patients address next to their
telephone. When the patient rang for an ambulance the
address would trigger an alert to identify that the patient
was on the community care pathway and a matron was
involved. This would enable ambulance paramedic staff
to determine the most effective referral and treatment
options for known patients. One option for the paramedic
would be to contact the community matron to attend the
address allowing the paramedics to continue onto
another patient.

Patients who have known healthcare needs and long
term health conditions can have individual care plans
produced; this reduced unnecessary hospital admissions
and alleviates pressure on A&E departments.

Inpatient Services

We observed staff treating patients and their relatives
with the upmost dignity and respect. Patients told us staff
were exceptionally kind, caring and compassionate. Staff

were exceptionally attentive and responded quickly and
compassionately to patients who needed help or
assistance, they anticipated the needs of their patients
and offered assistance proactively.

Children and Young Peoples Services

The Parallel service, in Bolton, was a new service within
Bridgewater that offered a 0 – 19 years’ service for young
people as a single point of contact for a range of services.
We found the staff to be passionate and committed to
young people with a range of specialist skills.

Urgent Care and Walk in Services

The joint initiative for hospital avoidance between
Bridgewater and North West Ambulance Service was the
highest performing admission avoidance pathfinder
initiative within the North West.

End of Life Care

The development of an AHP specialist palliative care
team was an example of outstanding practice in this
service.

However, there were also areas of poor practice where
the provider needs to make improvements.

Importantly, the provider must:

Trust Level

• Ensure the trust medicines strategy and standard
operating policy is up to date.

• Ensure that robust systems are embedded in all
services to assess, monitor and improve the quality of
the services provided.

Community Services for Children, Young People and
Families

• Ensure that children / young people are reviewed in a
timely manner and provide assurance of safe care and
treatment in the delivery of the service.

• Ensure staffing levels for all clinicians are consistently
sufficient to meet the demands of the service.

•

Urgent Care and Walk in Services

• Ensure that patients are triaged appropriately in line
with national guidance.

End of Life Care

Summary of findings

5 Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust Quality Report 06/02/2017

Page 61



• Ensure that there is a trust wide vision for end of life
services, which is in line with national guidelines and
recommendations.

• Ensure that there is a trust wide strategy for end of life
services.

• Ensure that there are trust wide governance systems
to monitor progression towards national targets.

• Ensure that an individual plan of care is embedded
into all documentation for patients at the end of their
life.

• Ensure that there is a safe and consistent system of
documentation for end of life medication across all
services.

Midwifery Services

• The provider must ensure that staff have the
necessary competencies, knowledge, skills and
experience in order to deliver care and treatment
safely during a homebirth.

• The provider must ensure routine or mandatory trust
rotation into the local acute trusts, to keep staff
updated with skill aptitude and proficiency.

• The provider must ensure regular training for pool
deliveries to ensure staff competencies and trust
policies are followed correctly.

• The provider must ensure that basic emergency and
resuscitation equipment are immediately available
for their homebirth service.

• The provider must ensure staff training for any new
emergency equipment purchased.

• The provider must ensure a more robust audit
system to assess trends, implement lessons learnt
and improve practice and services.

• The provider must ensure the development of robust
action plans and methods of implementing audit
findings.

• The provider must ensure how risks and incidents
are assessed and managed and provide a robust
feedback system to staff.

• The provider must ensure easy accessibility and
storage location of resuscitation trolleys at the HCRC
and the Runcorn clinics and that all midwives take
responsibility for daily checks to ensure staff
competency in using the resuscitation equipment.

• The provider must ensure the safe and effective use
of patient data collection using digital pens.

• The provider must ensure improving the emergency
nurse call bell system at the HCRC.

• The provider must ensure establishing a Maternity
Services Liaison Committee (MSLC), to enable for
maternity service users, providers and
commissioners of maternity services to come
together to design services that meet the needs of
local women, parents and families.

Dentistry Services

• Ensure the safe management of medicines and stock
control of medicines.

• Ensure the safe stock control of dental instruments.
• Ensure the safe infection control management of used

dental instruments on localities where cleaning and
sterilisation of dental instruments is provided by a
third party company.

• Ensure internal and external assurance systems are in
place and managed that ensure clinical services are
delivered in a safe, effective, responsive and well-led
manner.

• Ensure learning from incidents and complaints is
shared and embedded with all staff.

For shoulds please see individual core service
reports
Professor Sir Mike Richards Chief Inspector of
Hospitals

Summary of findings

6 Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust Quality Report 06/02/2017

Page 62



Our inspection team
The Inspection team included 12 CQC inspectors, two
inspection managers, an assistant inspector and a variety

of specialists: an urgent care matron, an occupational
therapist, a physiotherapist, a consultant paediatrician, a
health visitor, a midwife, a school nurse, a dentist and a
governance specialist.

Why we carried out this inspection
We previously inspected Bridgewater Community Health
NHS Trust in April 2014 as part of the pilot project of our
new comprehensive inspection methodology. We did not
rate the trust at that time.

Our main concerns in April 2014 were, incident reporting
and learning from incidents, ensuring all staff had
appropriate safeguarding training, improving the
standard of record keeping and the IT systems used in the
trust.

This inspection was a planned comprehensive
inspection. The inspection was announced and was to
enable the trust to be rated and follow up on concerns at
our previous inspection.

How we carried out this inspection
To get to the heart of patients’ experiences of care, we
always ask the following five questions of every service
and provider:

• Is it safe?

• Is it effective?

• Is it caring?

• Is it responsive to people’s needs?

• Is it well led?

We carried out an announced comprehensive inspection
of this trust between 31 May– 3 June 2016 and an
unannounced inspection on 16 June 2016. At this
inspection, we assessed the leadership and governance
arrangements at the trust and inspected the all core
services provided:

• Community Health Services for Adults.

• Community Services for Children, Young People and
Families.

• Community Inpatient Services.

• Community Dentistry Services.

• Community Sexual Health Services.

• Urgent Care Services.

• Community Midwifery Services.

• Community End of Life Services.

Before visiting, we reviewed a range of information we
requested from the trust and asked other organisations
to share what they knew about the trust and its services.
These included local clinical commissioning groups
(CCGs), NHS Improvement, NHS England, Health
Education England (HEE), the General Medical Council
(GMC), the Nursing and Midwifery Council (NMC) and the
Royal colleges.

We held focus groups and drop-in sessions with a range
of staff, including district nurses, health visitors, school
nurses and allied health professionals (AHPs). We also
spoke with staff individually as requested.

We talked with patients and staff in ward areas and
community clinics. We observed how people were being
cared for, talked with carers and/or family members, and
reviewed patients’ records of personal care and
treatment.

Summary of findings

7 Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust Quality Report 06/02/2017

Page 63



We would like to thank all staff, patients, carers and other
stakeholders for sharing their balanced views and
experiences of the quality of care and treatment at
Bridgewater Community Health NHS Trust.

Information about the provider
Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Foundation
Trust is a provider of community health services in the
north west of England. The trust provide community and
specialist services to 831,270 people living in Halton,
Oldham, Southport, St. Helens, Warrington, Wigan
Borough and Trafford.

The trust’s major funders/commissioners are NHS
Warrington CCG, NHS Halton CCG, NHS St Helens CCG and
NHS Wigan CCG and in 2014/15 the total trust income was
approximately £140 million.

The trust employs over 3,240 staff and approximately 80
percent of those are practising health professionals
including nurses, community matrons, health visitors,
GPs, dentists, dieticians, podiatrists, physiotherapists,
occupational therapists and speech and language
therapists.

The trust provides community health services to adults,
children, young people and their families. Services are
provided for patients in their own homes and in over 60
locations including, 3 walk-in centres. Bed based care
provided by Bridgewater community inpatient services

comprised of a total of 117 beds across four sites. There is
one 30 bedded community inpatient ward based at
Newton-le-Willows community Hospital, this is the only
inpatient facility that is registered to Bridgewater
community NHS foundation trust. However there are also
inpatient facilities at Padgate House with 35 beds, Maple
Court with 12 beds and Alexandra Court with 40 beds.
These facilities were registered to other providers but
Bridgewater did have staff working in these facilities and
the trust did have some input into the commissioning
and management of these inpatient services to varying
degrees.

Following a transformation programme undertaken by
the trust, services are now delivered within a framework
of localities across the trust’s geographical footprint.
These localities are, with each locality led by an associate
director and clinical lead.

Bridgewater Community Health NHS Trust became an
NHS Trust on 1 November 2010 and obtained Foundation
Trust status in 2014.

.

Areas for improvement

Summary of findings

8 Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust Quality Report 06/02/2017

Page 64



* People are protected from physical, sexual, mental or psychological, financial, neglect, institutional or discriminatory
abuse

Summary of findings
Overall the safe domain was judged as requires
improvement. Improvements are needed in the end of
life, midwifery, urgent care services and the dentistry
service provided by the trust, the remaining services
were judged as good.

• There were significant gaps in the management of
medication at the trust. The trust medicines strategy
expired in 2013, we were not provided with an
updated copy of this.We were told that the strategy,
standard operating policy and terms of reference
would be reviewed when the new head of medicines
management started in June 2016.

• In EOLC services the systems and processes for
medicines management across the trust were not
standardised and subject to an unacceptable level of

variation with regards to risk. Some boroughs were
using confusing documentation to authorise
prescriptions for end of life patients and not
complying with trust policy for this documentation.

• We found that, there was a practice in operation of
GPs prescribing an unacceptably wide range of doses
for end of life medications and district nurses
titrating the medication dose upwards without
medical review. District nurses reported they had not
had training in EOL medications.

• This issue had not been picked up by the medicines
management team. This practice was unsafe
because it was open to mistake or abuse and
consequently was escalated immediately to trust
management and additional safety measures put in
place.

BridgBridgeewwataterer CommunityCommunity
HeHealthcalthcararee NHSNHS FFoundationoundation
TTrustrust
Detailed findings

Are services safe?
By safe, we mean that people are protected from abuse * and avoidable harm

Requires improvement –––

9 Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust Quality Report 06/02/2017

Page 65



• The assessment and response to risk was not
consistently managed across all services. For
example an Early Warning Screening Tool to manage
the deteriorating patient was used in inpatient
services however not at the urgent care centres.

• Also different Urgent care centres used different
triage systems and did not always follow national
guidance.

• Data from the national reporting and learning system
(NRLS) (published September 2015, covering
incidents reported to the NRLS between 1 October
2014 and 31 March 2015) showed that the trust could
not be considered a consistent reporter as 50% of
incidents were submitted more than 48 days after an
incident occurred. The trust was a high reporter of
incidents where no harm was caused, which
indicates a positive reporting culture. However, the
proportion of those categorised as severe harm was
2% higher than the community trust average. During
the inspection in the majority of services there was
evidence of a good culture of openness, reporting
and investigation of incidents. There was evidence of
positive improvements and changes made as a result
of incidents.

However

• During the inspection in the majority of services
there was evidence of a good culture of openness,
reporting and investigation of incidents. There was
evidence of positive improvements and changes
made as a result of incidents.

• Staff were aware of the trust infection control policy
and we saw good examples of practise in the
majority of services.

• Following the last inspection we told the trust they
must ensure there were sufficient numbers of staff to
provide care and treatment. At this inspection we
found that there had been a significant improvement
in the number of staff across the majority of
community services. For example, there had been a
net increase of 57 district nurses since our last
inspection and a further 20 were to be recruited.

• At the last inspection, staff told us they did not
always feel safe when performing home visits. As a

result, we told the trust they should take measures to
protect the safety of all staff, and in particular staff
working alone, in a consistent way. At this inspection,
we found that there had been a significant
improvement in the number of people accessing and
using lone worker safety devices. The trust was
monitoring and encouraging staff to maintain usage
of the devices.

Our findings
Incident Reporting

• Data from the national reporting and learning system
(NRLS) (published September 2015, covering incidents
reported to the NRLS between 1 October 2014 and 31
March 2015) showed that the trust could not be
considered a consistent reporter as 50% of incidents
were submitted more than 48 days after an incident
occurred.

• The trust reported a total of 1,263 incidents to the NRLS
between February 2015 and January 2016, when
compared to other similar trusts Bridgewater were in
the middle 50%.40.7% (514) of incidents reported to
NRLS resulted in no harm, 52% (666) of incidents were
reported as resulting in low harm, 6.3% (80) in
moderate, no incidents resulted in severe harm and
0.2% (3) resulted in death.

• The trust reported 116 pressure sores between February
2015 and February 2016 with the highest monthly
number reported in July 2015.

• The trust reported 73 falls during the same period with
the highest number 11 being reported in May 2015.

• However the trust had begun work to improve the
incident reporting culture to improve consistency across
services.

• During the inspection in the majority of services there
was evidence of a good culture being developed of
openness in reporting and investigation of incidents.
There was evidence of positive improvements and
changes made as a result of incidents. Learning was
taken from the investigations and this was disseminated
and shared with staff to prevent future occurrences in
the majority of services.

ArAree serservicviceses safsafe?e?
By safe, we mean that people are protected from abuse * and avoidable harm

Requires improvement –––

10 Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust Quality Report 06/02/2017

Page 66



• The trust reported a score of 3.78 in reporting staff
confidence and security in reporting unsafe clinical
practice.This figure is 0.17 higher than the 2014 survey.
This figure is 0.02 higher than the national average for
community trusts.

• The results from recent pressure ulcer audit, March
2016, evidenced that staff are now managing pressure
ulcers and the prevention of pressure ulcers within trust
and national guidelines, a consistent 10 steps approach
had been followed in all investigations and
documentation was of a high standard. However within
dental, midwifery and end of life services more work
needed to be done to ensure the culture of learning
from incidents and complaints was embedded and
cascaded to staff for example in January 2016, there
were two separate incidents relating to out of date local
anaesthetic medicines being administered to patients in
dental services. Considering that during the inspection
we found that at one dentistry service location five vials
of a local anaesthetic had expired in May 2016, it
became evident that learning had not taken place.

Staffing and caseloads

• The trust senior managers acknowledged that staffing
had been problematic across some services especially
at times of change and uncertainty, but they were
working with staff to ensure safe staffing levels were safe
until procurement processes had been finalised. This
meant that some services were more affected by staff
shortages than others.

• A ‘weighting tool’ was used across all the locations on
the trust. The weighting tool assessed the acuity of the
patients and enabled the district nurses to have a
shared caseload and ensure that patients received safe
care and treatment at all times.

• A recent external review (prior to April 2016) of
Bridgewater community nursing workload and staffing
study identified that that the community adult teams
had a 52.9 whole time equivalent (WTE) staffing
shortfall, based on current workloads.

• The trust was in the process of recruiting 20 district
nurses to be spread across the trust.

• The same external audit showed temporary staffing
(bank, agency and overtime) figures were close to the
England average.

• Overall we saw a positive staffing group who felt their
team’s workload was safe. For example within inpatient
services safer staffing records showed a minimum of
95% shift fill rates were maintained and the number of
midwives employed met best practice Birthrate Plus
recommendations 2007.

However:

• We found particular concern regarding staffing
shortages for paediatricians, school nurses and
therapists highlighted that had coincided with an
increase in caseloads. There were shortages of
paediatricians highlighted, in St Helens, that were
needed to review children and young people that were
transferred from a neighbouring trust in November
2015. This had not been resolved at the time of
inspection.

• Also there were staffing shortages for paediatricians
highlighted that had coincided with an increase in
caseloads in Warrington.

• Long-term sickness and maternity leave “children’s
needs not being met, performance expectations not
being met” was highlighted in the risk register report for
children and young people was long term sickness and
maternity leave cited as impacting on the service.

Medicines

• The management of medicines across services was not
consistent and shortfalls in some services had not been
identified through the trust internal audit processes,
particularly in end of life services.

• The trust’s medicine policies were available through the
trusts intranet page and had review dates. Two
accompanying Standard operating procedures (SOPs)
set out time frames for medicines audits at intervals of
monthly, 4 monthly and 6 monthly. When asked what
oversight the medicines management team had to
ensure compliance with the audits we were told that the
team did not know if audits were being completed.

• The trust medicines strategy expired in 2013, we were
not provided with an updated copy of this. We were told
that the strategy, standard operating policy and terms of
reference would be reviewed when the new head of
medicines management started in June 2016.

ArAree serservicviceses safsafe?e?
By safe, we mean that people are protected from abuse * and avoidable harm

Requires improvement –––

11 Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust Quality Report 06/02/2017

Page 67



• An independent medicines management review was
completed for 2015-16 and found eight risks, four of
which were deemed high. A response to the
recommendations was delivered to the Quality and
Safety Committee in May 2016. Although the risks were
acknowledged, the actions relied on the appointment of
new staff that at the time of our inspection were not in
post.

• Until then responsibility fell to one locum pharmacist, a
pharmacy technician and the nurse prescribing lead.

• Medicines management for Newton-le-Willows
Community Hospital was provided under a service level
agreement (SLA). The trust could not demonstrate
compliance with this agreement. The medicines
management team did not have information regarding
medicines reconciliation or oversight of the services
provided at the Community hospital. The service level
agreement for medicines management services
provided to us for the Newton Community Hospital
expired in March 2016. This had not been picked up as
part of the medicines review.

• The trust used Patient Group Directions (PGDs). PGDs
are written instructions which allow specified healthcare
professionals to supply or administer a particular
medicine in the absence of a written prescription. Of the
65 PGDs that we viewed we found that 9 had had the
expiry date extended and 1 of the 9 was outside its
extended expiry. We were told that the medicines
management team did not have the capacity to review
the PGDs. The policy stated that the medicines
management team held a database of staff signed up to
PGDs. This information was submitted by the service
managers along with any amendments, we were told
that the medicine management team did not have a
database and so they could not be confident who was
using the PGDs or that staff were using the most up to
date PGD. Therefore we could not assure ourselves that
the PGDs were fit for purpose or that systems were in
place to keep people safe.

• We reviewed a patient’s district nursing notes and found
that GPs had prescribed EOL medications as and when
required (PRN) using an inappropriately broad range. It
was then left to the district nurse caring for the patient
to tritrate the doses using her own professional
judgement. This represented a patient safety risk which

we escalated to the trust management at the time of the
inspection. However from the patient’s medical record
we were able to identify that the district nurse
administered all medications at an appropriate dose.

• At the time of our inspection there was no medicines
management interface group any Medicines Safety
Committee; this is a requirement of the NHS England
MHRA alert: Improving Medication Error Incident
reporting and learning 20 March 2014.

Infection control

• We saw good infection control practises across the trust
apart from some areas of dental services.

• The trust infection control policy was available to staff
on the trust intranet and staff were aware of its contents.

• Infection control was part the staff mandatory training
program and the trust 89% compliant with mandatory
training.

• Walk In Centres and clinic areas were visibly clean.

• The inpatient environment was clean and hygienic with
low levels of healthcare associated infection and high
levels of harm free care. Statistics showed that Newton-
le-Willows inpatient facility performed better than
similar providers in terms of the safety thermometer
data.

• Leaflets and notice boards with information about
infection control were accessible and visible to patients.

• An external agent collected clinical waste collection
following a homebirth directly from the patient’s home.
This avoided midwives from carrying dirty clinical waste
in their cars.

• Overall, dental staff adhered to infection prevention and
control procedures, such as safe disposal of sharps and
handwashing practices.

• However on two sites, we found that cleaning and
sterilising of dental instruments was carried out by a
third party company and at the time of inspection,
dental staff and the senior dental management team
did not provide documented evidence that infection
prevention and control procedures were adhered to in
line with trust policy. At the time of inspection, dental
staff and the senior dental management team did also
not provide documented evidence that cleaning and

ArAree serservicviceses safsafe?e?
By safe, we mean that people are protected from abuse * and avoidable harm

Requires improvement –––

12 Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust Quality Report 06/02/2017

Page 68



sterilising of dental instruments was carried out in
accordance to recommended guidelines (HTM0105)
from the Department of Health. This was discussed with
the trust management and we were informed that the
current contract was about to be renewed and a new
provider found.

Assessing and responding to Risk

• The assessment and response to risk was not
consistently managed across all services.

• National guidance requires that Urgent Care centres
(UCC) and Walk In Centres (WIC) triage patients within 15
minutes if they are children or 20 minutes if they are
adults. At Leigh WIC a decision had been taken for triage
to be stopped and for patients to be treated on their first
contact with a clinician, unless they had been waiting
for an hour or more. When patients had been waiting an
hour or more, band 5 nurses reviewed them and
completed initial observations and a triage assessment.
This represented a patient safety risk and was escalated
to the service manager at the time of our inspection. On
our unannounced visit this practice was still continuing.
We reviewed the computer system, which showed that
three patients had not been seen within one hour
including one two year old, an 18 year old and a 25 year
old. There was also one patient who had been waiting
for 18 minutes with shortness of breath.

• The UCC service did not have a standardised early
warning score system in place, which is not in
accordance with best practice in managing the
deteriorating patient.

• Staff followed best practice guidance when assessing
and responding to patients’ needs and used a EWS in
inpatient services.

• In midwifery services the assessing, mitigating and
management of risk was poor by staff. Anticipation and
processes of events going wrong or the event of an
emergency was poor. At the time of inspection, staff told
us they only booked low risk patients so did not
envisage poor outcomes or high-risk emergencies. If
something did go wrong, they told us they were happy
to call for an ambulance or an emergency crash team
and wait for help to come. This did not provide
reassurance that staff assessed, prevented, detected or
anticipated risk to ensure the health and safety of their
service users.

Safeguarding

• The trust achieved an 89% compliance with mandatory
training which included safeguarding training (up to
level 2).

• We found good processes in place to reduce the risk of
abuse and avoidable harm in the local teams.

• Staff were aware of their responsibilities regarding
safeguarding and the correct procedures to follow;
training rates were generally satisfactory and staff could
describe the safeguarding processes. There was
evidence of that safeguarding referrals had been made
appropriately.

• There were robust systems in place for safeguarding
children and young people with an average compliance
of 94.88% staff had received level three training.

• Dental staff also had a good understanding of
safeguarding adults and children principles and training
was provided; staff told us they were encouraged by the
senior dental management team to initiate
safeguarding procedures if they had any concerns.

• Data received prior to inspection confirmed that all
midwives had completed safeguarding level 3 training.
However all nursing staff had not completed level three
safeguarding training, which is recommended by the
intercollegiate guidance document for staff working in
urgent care services.

Duty of Candour

• There was good knowledge and application of the duty
of candour procedures and patients were kept informed
during the process.

• Staff were aware of the principles of the duty of candour.
However, they were not aware of the terminology and
some cases this needed to be explained.

• Staff understood their responsibilities regarding duty of
candour.

Managing anticipated risk

• The trust responded promptly to actions identified
during the inspection. An action plan was under way at
the time of our unannounced visit to review emergency
equipment, supervisor of midwives role in the future, up
to date skills of midwives and robust auditing processes.

ArAree serservicviceses safsafe?e?
By safe, we mean that people are protected from abuse * and avoidable harm

Requires improvement –––

13 Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust Quality Report 06/02/2017

Page 69



• Processes including methods for alerting staff to
ongoing concerns and multi-agency working were good.

• A ‘weighting tool’ was used across all the locations on
the trust. The weighting tool assessed the acuity of the
patients and enabled the district nurses to have a
shared caseload and ensure that patients received safe
care and treatment at all times.

• There were no details of reviews by paediatricians, of up
to three years, recorded in care records for children, in St
Helens that had transferred from a neighbouring trust.
This was raised.

• Community midwives did not have access to oxygen or
suction for maternal collapse at homebirths. There was
no evidence of completed risk assessments for
homebirth equipment. Therefore, this did not reassure
us that the safety and welfare of patients and their
needs was provided.

• In the maternity clinical area at Halton Hospital, there
were no emergency call bells, no oxygen or suction
equipment. Emergency equipment for general use was
stored in a locked cupboard by the hospital main
entrance, which was a distance from the maternity area.
This did not reassure us that patient safety in an
emergency situation was assessed for risk or timely
treatment was provided to service users.

• At the HCRC, there was only one emergency
resuscitation trolley within the whole building. This was
not situated or located near the maternity area. Staff
were not aware where it was stored or what equipment
the trolley contained. Again, this did not reassure us that
patient safety and timely treatment in an emergency
situation was assessed for risk or provided to service
users.

• At Leigh WIC the triage system in place did not reflect
national guidance and meant that patients were not
assessed in a timely manner.

Safety of equipment

• At trust level equipment was readily available for
patients at home. For large items of equipment, such as
beds and commodes, the community equipment
service aim to dispatch the equipment on the day of
request.

• Midwifery staff informed us that the Entonox (gas and
air) cylinders for home deliveries were delivered directly
to patient’s home by the trust transport service.
Therefore, the staff did not have to carry these cylinders
in their cars.

• At the time of inspection, dental staff and the senior
dental management team did not provide documented
evidence that legionella assessments and water services
maintenance were in date for all dental sites.

• We did not get assurance that water lines and bottles in
both frequently and infrequently used clinic rooms were
flushed in accordance with the recommended
guidelines from HTM0105.

• Digital pens used to collect and store patient data was
troublesome and at times ineffective. However, the trust
was exploring new data collection systems. Staff
reported that data was often not stored on the system
when they entered patient information and a lot of time
was spent ringing the production company helpline for
advice and support. This did not reassure us that care
and treatment was recorded and stored accurately and
contemporaneously.

• District nursing teams in Halton were based in GP clinics
and some had poor facilities and limited office and
meeting room space.

Mandatory Training

• The trust achieved an 89% compliance with mandatory
training this included infection control, medicines
management, dementia awareness, safeguarding and
information management.

• Mandatory training was a mixture of face to face training
courses or could be completed by being done remotely
on a computer.

• Training was adapted to meet the needs of staff working
in particular circumstances for example reception staff
at urgent care centres were trained in red flag symptoms
and knew in what circumstances to prioritise these
patients for medical support.

• .Mandatory training levels were below the trust’s target
at Halton UCC and Leigh WIC, as was level 3
safeguarding training.

Records

ArAree serservicviceses safsafe?e?
By safe, we mean that people are protected from abuse * and avoidable harm

Requires improvement –––

14 Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust Quality Report 06/02/2017

Page 70



• At the time of the inspection, the dental staff and the
senior dental management team did not provide
documented evidence that comprehensive dental
records audits carried had been carried out in 2015 and
2016 [PP1], in line with recommended guidelines from
the BDA. In turn, at the time of inspection, we could not
be assured that clinical records were thus reflecting safe
and effective practice.

• Allergies information was not recorded in 33.3% of the
records we reviewed.

• At Leigh WIC the second signatory did not individually
sign the PGD documentation. This breached the trust’s
policy and was escalated at the time of our inspection.

• We identified that the records of the district nurse team
in Widnes were of a poor standard in that they were not

complete, in one instance a set of records contained
details of a documentation audit which included
confidential details from other patients and in another
contained post-it notes containing important
information which was undated, unsigned with no
patient identifiers.

Major Incidents

• We reviewed the trust’s intranet and found a major
incident policy that was over one hundred pages long,
generic and did not specify specific actions for the
centres/services. We escalated our concerns to the trust
at the time of our inspection.

• A number staff were unaware of the major incident plan
including at the inpatient services WICs and UCC.

ArAree serservicviceses safsafe?e?
By safe, we mean that people are protected from abuse * and avoidable harm

Requires improvement –––

15 Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust Quality Report 06/02/2017

Page 71



Summary of findings
Overall the effectiveness of services requires
improvement. Improvements are needed in End of Life
Services and Midwifery services provided by the trust,
the remaining services were judged as good.

• In midwifery services there was no evidence provided
around auditing, monitoring and updating midwifery
skills, experience and competencies within the
homebirth environment and potential emergency
situations. There was no plan for staff to rotate into
any of the local trusts to keep updated with skills
aptitude and proficiency this as particularly relevant
due to the low home birth rate.

• There was no evidence to show that information
collated on the maternity dashboard was used to
inform or improve practice. The Trust annual
performance targets were not always sets on the
dashboard. The trust did not routinely benchmark
their service; therefore, there was no oversight of
themes and trends.

• We found no evidence to confirm that there was a
robust, continuous auditing process in place.
Therefore, there was no oversight of themes and
trends or practice improvement.

• In EOL services individual care records for patients
were not being consistently used across the trust.

• There was no formal pain assessment tool being
used consistently, across the trust, to assess the pain
levels of patients at the end of their life. In addition
there was no formal pain tool being consistently
used across the trust to assess the pain of non-verbal
patients.

• In dentistry services at the time of inspection, dental
staff and the senior dental management team could
not provide documented evidence that
comprehensive dental records audits had been
carried out in 2015 and 2016; therefore we could not
be assured that clinical records were thus reflecting
safe and effective practice with regards to
documenting consent and documenting patient’s
clinical outcomes.

• At the time of inspection, the senior dental
management team did not provide us with
documented evidence that all dental staff had
undergone a DBS check this was provided following
the inspection.

However

• We saw good evidence that consent, across services,
was sought and documented in patients notes
including initial nursing assessments.

• Training in consent was part of mandatory training
for staff and the trust achieved 85.9% in 2015/16

• Gillick and Fraser guidelines were fully explained
where appropriate

• The majority of patients were treated in accordance
with best practice and recognised national
guidelines,

• Within most services, such as community adults,
children’s and young peoples and sexual health, staff
were engaged in monitoring and improving
outcomes for patients. We saw how outcome
monitoring, national, and local audit data was
influencing practice particularly within the sexual
health service and community hospitals. Teams
worked together and there was good evidence of
multidisciplinary working.

Our findings
Evidence based care and treatment

• The majority of services provided care and treatment
that was evidence based

• Care was given in line with policies which were based on
evidence and in line with national guidance.

• We saw evidence of holistic assessment and treatment
in inpatient services which followed best practice
guidelines issued by the National Institute of Health and
Care Excellence (NICE).

• In Urgent care services we saw examples where staff
followed NICE (such as head or neck injury guidelines).
Guidelines were accessible on the trust intranet with
paper copies in folders.

Are services effective?
By effective, we mean that people’s care, treatment and support achieves good
outcomes, promotes a good quality of life and is based on the best available
evidence.

Requires improvement –––

16 Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust Quality Report 06/02/2017

Page 72



• Local audits were completed to ensure pathways were
followed correctly. For example the Urgent Care service
undertook a quarterly antibiotic audit to ensure were
being used and issued appropriately in accordance with
Pan Mersey Area Prescribing Committee formulary and
National Institute of Health and Care Excellence.

• Care and treatment was evidence based in sexual health
services. The team were actively engaged with regional
and national networks. Trafford sexual health services
had membership of Greater Manchester Sexual Health
Network which in turn provided best practice
information, events and a research library. Clinicians
from Trafford .also contributed to the network as
speakers.

• The service follows BASHH Guidance.

• In midwifery services though some staff said they did
benchmark practise against other local units we saw no
evidence of this .Also there was no evidence to show
that the trust routinely benchmarked their service on a
national basis. We were informed that it was a “unique”
service and there was nothing similar to benchmark
with. NICE (2014) recommend that maternity services
should provide a model of care that supports one to one
care in labour for all patients and benchmark services to
identify issues.

• There was a lack of consistency regarding the
implementation of an evidence based pathways for all
patients who were in the last year of their life. The
Liverpool Care Pathway had been phased out in
2013but there was no trust wide individual plan of care
to replace

• Three different care plans were in operation, which had
each been developed within geographical locations
using the borough based clinical networks that existed.
All the care plans that we saw were based on national
guidelines.

Patient outcomes

• Patient outcomes were monitored across the majority of
services via a dashboard system. These outcomes were
reported against a range of trust and national targets
including the Friends and Family test, readmission rates,
infection control, length of stay, delayed transfer, safety

thermometerprescribing patients booking before or
after 13 weeks of pregnancy, percentage of planned and
unplanned homebirths, breastfeeding and smoking
rates and workforce data.

• At Newton Le Willows the main inpatient service of the
Trust data showed that year to December 2015, the
large majority 76% of patients were successfully
discharged to their own homes. Ward performance and
key performance indicators were displayed which
showed how they had achieved zero cases of MRSA, zero
cases of Clostridium difficile, zero case of acquired
pressure ulcers, 100% MRSA screening and 100% VTE
assessments.

• It was difficult to determine from the dental service
audits inspected if effective patient outcomes had been
achieved because they did not clarify this element in the
actual audit.

• The maternity dashboard recorded monthly data (in
percentages) from April 2015 to December 2015.

• It was unclear if the target column on the maternity
dashboard was set against trust targets or national
targets, as this was not clearly stated.

• Of the 24 items listed on the maternity dashboard, only
11 had target figures set for them. Thirteen items listed
had no data for the period or no target set or agreed.

• The sexual health service took part in part in relevant
audits and outcomes from these were shared with staff.

• In community services for children and young people
clinical pathways were in place and gave clear and
consistent guidance across the therapy services.There
was a high number of children that had received
immunisations, as per the trust schedule for reaching
their second birthday, for the year 2015/16. For
diphtheria, tetanus and pertussis (DPT) and polio the
percentage was 97.3%, for haemophilus influenza B it
was 97.5%, for pneumococcal booster it was 94.3% and
measles, mumps and rubella (MMR) it was 94.7%.

• From the last inspection, in February 2014, it was
identified the there was a backlog of health
assessments, in one borough, for looked after children
on the risk register: continued to be a risk in the trust
and had not been resolved since the previous
inspection.

Are services effective?
By effective, we mean that people’s care, treatment and support achieves good
outcomes, promotes a good quality of life and is based on the best available
evidence.

Requires improvement –––

17 Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust Quality Report 06/02/2017

Page 73



Pain relief

• Overall services managed patient’s pain well; the trust
had prescribing guidelines and algorithms in place for
medications to address the five key ends of life
symptoms of pain, breathlessness, nausea, respiratory
secretions and restlessness. These guidelines were
based on the Merseyside and Cheshire palliative care
network audit group guidelines, which are based on
nationally recommended best practice.

• We found evidence of prescribing for anticipatory
medications for patients at the end of their life in case
notes and all patients had an adequate stock of
anticipatory medication.

• However in In Warrington and Halton EOL services we
were told that staff did not use a formal pain tool to
assess patients’ pain levels and there was no pain tool
used to assess the pain of those patients who were not
able to respond to verbal questions about pain.

• In the inpatient areas, pain was assessed as part of the
early warning system (EWS). The measuring of pain
levels was integral to the EWS scoring system. Whereby
each time observations were taken, the patient was
asked about their pain levels and a ‘score’ was recorded.

• Patients were prescribed pain relief in keeping with the
World Health Organisation ‘analgesia ladder’, which
advocates an incremental approach to the
administration of pain relief. Patients were asked for a
score of their pain levels and they were given pain relief
commensurate with these scores.

Competent staff

• The trust had an induction program for all staff to attend
before working directly with patients and was service
specific In Urgent care services new staff followed an
induction programme which included enrolment on the
service’s minor illness and ailments course which is
accredited by Chester University.

• Trust wide appraisal rates for 2015-16 were 85.3%.
Inpatient services achieved 100% and Children and
Young people services 95.5%. Staff said they received
good support and supervision from their line managers,
in addition to their annual appraisal, they could request
meetings with managers and there were always
someone to go to for advice

• There were good opportunities for development and
training for nursing and allied professional staff. They
were encouraged and supported to develop their
expertise and competencies and extend their skills.

• In EOL care services all staff were trained to
postgraduate level education, specialising in the care of
the dying patient. SPCT in Halton were all independent
prescribers and able to prescribe anticipatory end of life
medications.

• Staff within the urgent care service who were above
band fives were IRMER trained to read x-rays.

• However in midwifery services there was a low rate of
homebirths and pool deliveries. There was no routine or
mandatory trust rotation system in place to keep staff
updated with skill aptitude and proficiency. If staff
requested to rotate into a trust at their annual appraisal,
then it would be arranged but there was no evidence if
this had occurred. Some staff did not see this as an issue
as they felt confident about their own skills and the
support from the SOM’s.

• We found no evidence that the service was aware of
number of staff trained in suturing and the number of
staff that had used their suturing skills in the past 12
months. Managers we spoke with confirmed that they
had no overview of staff training or competency in
relation to suturing. These issues were raised at the time
of the inspection and action taken by the trust to
suspend home deliveries while the issue was addressed.

Multidisciplinary working

• The trust had good multidisciplinary working practises
in services across the trust this was not always
straightforward due to certain services being provided
by other trusts and the local authority an added
complexity was the large geographical spread of the
trust, however staff and managers had worked together
to lessen the impact of these issues on patients.

• The inspection team observed effective multi-
disciplinary working between trust staff and social
workers employed by the local authority.

• Multidisciplinary working was clearly evident in the
community teams. Nursing, medical, therapy,
ambulance services and social care staff were

Are services effective?
By effective, we mean that people’s care, treatment and support achieves good
outcomes, promotes a good quality of life and is based on the best available
evidence.

Requires improvement –––

18 Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust Quality Report 06/02/2017

Page 74



committed to working together to meet the individual
needs of their patients. For example, staff within the
urgent care services worked closely with GPs and could
request chest x-rays from them.

• There was a fully integrated multi-disciplinary approach
to the management of care records. Patients were asked
to sign a consent form to enable records to be shared.

• In Wigan and St Helens, where specialist palliative care
staff were employed by a different provider, there was
evidence of good communication between teams.
Regular meetings took place, including End of life care
committee meetings that included representation from
the trust, GP’s, hospital, hospice, local authority and
ambulance service and took place every two months.

• In community services for children and young people
we saw evidence that staff worked professionally and
cooperatively across different disciplines and
organisations. For example, in Wigan, the community
nurses received referrals from a number of sources that
included the local trust children’s ward and accident
and emergency department, the walk –in centres, GPs
and self-referrals or for children with learning
disabilities, joint visits could be arranged with the social
worker.

• However communication with vascular and orthopaedic
clinics in adult services was not as effective as it could
be. We were told that the nurses could only contact
these services via the GP. This was time consuming and
delayed patient care.

Access to information/ Technology and telemedicine

• From the last inspection, in February 2014, a
recommendation was that the trust should continue to
develop information technology systems to enable full
integration and connectivity across the trust. From the
action plan, post inspection, the trust target date was
June 2015. In all services this was not completed

• The trust was in the process of transferring from paper
records to electronic in a phased approach. There were
variations throughout the trust including two electronic
systems.

• A numbers of problems were apparent during the
inspection for example staff reported difficulties
accessing the electronic system as new starters, taking
up to a month to have a personal login.

• Also trust specialist palliative care consultants that were
based in local hospices were unable to access trust IT
systems, which created difficulties communicating
about patients.

• In midwifery services an electronic digital pen system
had been introduced, staff reported many problems
with the system including experiencing missing data,
which they had to find and re-enter onto the system.
Staff said this affected the length of time allocated to
each woman. This was on the risk register and
management were investigating a new system to
improve data collection and data storage.

• The digital pen system did not interface with the trust
‘systemOne’ computer system therefore staff told us it
was time consuming having to access two computer
systems.

• Consultants did not have access to their own digital
pens when working in the community clinics. We
observed that one consultant had to borrow the
midwives pens to complete their documentation.

• However in Wigan, the electronic patient record system
allowed all staff to have instant access to the most
recent patient information so that treatment and care
could be optimised.

• District nursing staff in Wigan could access the trust
intranet via their laptops. This allowed access to all
policies and procedures, and the most current guidance
and best practice whilst in the community

• Staff could access the trust wide intranet system for
policies and standard operating procedures as well as
hard copies in local areas.

Consent, Mental Capacity Act and Deprivation of
Liberty Safeguards

• The trust had a written policy in place governing
uDNACPR Universal Do Not Attempt Cardio Pulmonary
Resuscitation). This policy included advanced decisions,
lasting power of attorney, mental capacity guidance and
the use of independent mental capacity advocates.

• All staff received mandatory training regarding mental
capacity and deprivation of liberty safeguards as part of
safeguarding training.

Are services effective?
By effective, we mean that people’s care, treatment and support achieves good
outcomes, promotes a good quality of life and is based on the best available
evidence.

Requires improvement –––

19 Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust Quality Report 06/02/2017

Page 75



• We saw evidence of uDNACPR in case notes and these
were completed either by a GP or when patients where
in hospital, by a consultant.

• We saw examples of completed capacity and DoL
assessments in the healthcare records we inspected.
They were completed appropriately and in full.

• Staff undertook and documented inpatients’ informal
consent to undertake personal care and therapy
treatment in the patient’s notes. We observed staff
seeking consent to interventions during or inspection.

• In Children’s and Sexual health services there was a
‘consent to assessment examination and / or treatment

policy that included a section for Fraser guidelines (A
child under 16 years may consent to medical treatment
if he/she is judged to be competent to give that consent)
with Gillick competency guidelines incorporated.

• Staff understood and were able to explain the use of
Gillick competency guidelines in relation to consent.
Gillick competency guidelines refer to a legal case which
looked at whether doctors should be able to give advice
and treatment to under 16 year olds without parental
consent. They are now used more widely to help assess
whether a child has the maturity to make their own
decisions and to understand the implications of those
decisions

Are services effective?
By effective, we mean that people’s care, treatment and support achieves good
outcomes, promotes a good quality of life and is based on the best available
evidence.

Requires improvement –––

20 Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust Quality Report 06/02/2017

Page 76



Summary of findings
We judged caring to be good in all services with the
exception of the community inpatient service where we
judged it to be outstanding.

• Overwhelmingly all service users reported care that
was delivered with kindness and compassion and
there was a strong, visible patient-centred culture.

• Within community inpatient services patients said
staff went the extra mile and the care they received
went beyond their expectations. It was clear that the
anxieties of patients and their relatives were
alleviated with the caring nature of all of the staff.

• Within community inpatient services patients, carers
and relatives were active partners in care and worked
in partnership with staff to deliver the best outcomes
for patients.

• The NHS Friend and Family Test results could not be
disaggregated for across all services. However trust
wide figures showed that 97% of patients would
recommend services provided to their friends and
family; the England average rate was 95%.

• Care offered by staff promoted people’s privacy and
dignity and a range of evidence supported this.

• Comments from patients included:

“I can ask anything and really appreciate her coming,
she understands what is happening and I can ask her
anything.”

“I have no fear; I have confidence in her that she’s not
hiding anything from me.”

Our findings
Dignity, respect and compassionate care

• People were treated with kindness, dignity and respect
when receiving care and treatment. This information
came from the comment cards completed in advance of
the inspection by patients and carers, from the
observations of the team and conversations that took
place during the inspection.

• The NHS Friends and Family Test results in March 2016
showed that 100% of women receiving care and
treatment from the maternity service and 95.8% of users
of the children’s and young people’s service were likely
or extremely likely to recommend the trust as a place to
receive care.

• Feedback about the care in the four community
inpatient care facilities was that staff were very person-
centred in caring for their patients and was
overwhelmingly positive.

• In the four community inpatient care facilities we
observed staff speaking with patients in a professional
and respectful manner and offering them choices.

• Staff addressed patients by their chosen name when
carrying out treatment or personal care.

• We observed that cubicle curtains were drawn and
single room doors were closed during consultations,
interventions and patient care which protected the
privacy and dignity of patients, all staff knocked and
sought permission before entering patient areas.

• PLACE assessments awarded Newton-le-Willows; the
largest inpatient service attained a score of 90.5% which
was better than the England average of 86% for meeting
the privacy and dignity needs of patients.

• During our inspection we gathered many examples of
instances of staff going the extra mile for their patients
which demonstrated their commitment and desire to
give the very best care to their patients.

• In community services for adults we observed, staff
showed respect for patients and their families and a
commitment to promoting the dignity of patients. The
needs of patients with complex needs were considered
with compassion. During our inspection we attended
patients homes with the district nurses, all the feedback
from patients was positive. On one home visit a carer
told us that they had recently rang a district nurse with
concerns about their family members wound, they said
the nurses listened to them and responded promptly
with a visit.

• We spoke to one patient who had attended for their
appointment at clinic on the wrong day, they were not
automatically sent away, but an appointment was fitted
in for them.

Are services caring?
By caring, we mean that staff involve and treat people with compassion,
kindness, dignity and respect.

Good –––

21 Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust Quality Report 06/02/2017

Page 77



• In the community services for young people we
observed staff treat children with kindness, dignity and
respect in an age appropriate way.

• The team found that patients who were at the end of
their lives were treated with compassion. We spoke with
patients and relatives from St Helens and Wigan
boroughs and all were positive about the
compassionate care they had received. We were told
that nurses were always polite and pleasant, asked
about nutrition and pain levels and always respectful
when providing care. Plans and wishes for the future
had been discussed.

• We were told all the nursing staff visiting patients homes
were “brilliant, wonderful” and “superb”.

Understanding and involvement of patients and those
close to them

• People who use services and those close to them are
involved as partners in their care.

• In all services we were told staff involved patients and
carers in planning and here possible delivering their
care and treatment.

Examples of this were:

• In the community inpatient services the patients and
relatives we spoke with told us they found all members
of staff respectful, responsive and approachable.
Patients said they felt they had sufficient time to ask
their questions and had all their questions answered.

• Patients and their carers also said were involved in
decisions about their care at each stage of their
rehabilitation. They participated in discussions upon
admission and were involved in review and progress
measurement throughout their stay.

• At Newton-le-Willows, the largest inpatient service, the
corridors were marked with ‘landmarks’ to measure
distance and as such patients progress against their
mobility targets. For example “we reached Paris today,
we are aiming to reach New York by the end of next
week”. This enabled patients to see tangible results and
could take ownership of their own rehabilitation.

• In the community service for adults we observed staff
communicating with the patients in a caring manner,

the SALT team had various methods to communicate
with patients with speech problems and patient leaflets
were available in easy read format, for Learning
disability patients to go through with staff when needed.

• In the community services for young people in all areas
we visited, staff involved the whole family but with a
patient-centred approach.

• Parents told us that they were involved in the care and
listened to involved in decision making.

• We observed staff interacting with children and their
families in a caring and respectful manner.

• In the sexual health service staff gave us examples of
cases where they had demonstrated that they had taken
extra time to interact with patients and ensure their
involvement. An example of this was the Parreles
position which allowed peers to support patients whilst
they were in clinic areas. Staff felt this enabled young
people to feel supported and increased the likely hood
of engagement in the treatment process.

• Patients who were at the end of their lives and those
close to them were involved with their care.

• An end of life champion nurse told us that when she
delivers training regarding involving patients and those
close to them and she always reminds staff that they are
a guest in that person’s home and an intimate part of
their life.

• In the urgent care services all the patients and carers we
spoke with felt that staff communicated well with them,
ensuring they were fully informed about their medical
condition and what care or treatment was required.

• Patients told us that staff had responded in good time to
their needs.

Emotional support

• People using services and those close to them received
the support they needed to cope emotionally with their
care, treatment and the condition that they are dealing
with across all the services inspected. People were
supported to maintain their contact and relationships
with their families, carers and friends.

Some examples of this were:

Are services caring?
By caring, we mean that staff involve and treat people with compassion,
kindness, dignity and respect.

Good –––

22 Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust Quality Report 06/02/2017

Page 78



• In the community inpatient services counselling services
were available to patients who experienced emotional
and mental health problems. Newton-le-Willows had a
mental health nurse on staff who was able to give
counselling to patients as necessary.

• Condition specific advice and support was also
available from specialist nurses such as stoma nurses,
cardiac and heart failure nurses and diabetes nurses.

• In the community maternity service we observed all
staff discussing emotional wellbeing directly with
patients in a sensitive and dignified manner.

• Patients were allocated enough time during their clinic
appointments to discuss issues with midwives.

• In the community dentistry service dental staff regularly
assessed and treated adults and children with learning
disabilities and adults with dementia related conditions;
the staff we spoke with conveyed a clear understanding
of the importance of emotional support for these
patients and those close to them.

• In the community services for adults patients told us
they felt listened to, staff demonstrated that they
understood the importance of providing patients and
their families with emotional support. We observed staff
providing reassurance and comfort to patients and their
relatives.

• Emotional support was also provided by Macmillan
nurses, who provided counselling for bereavement and
offered support for patients and families.

• In the community services for children and young
people parents told us they felt supported emotionally
by staff. We observed staff providing emotional support
to parents / carers during consultations with
paediatricians.

• In the community EOL services we spoke to a patient
who told us how much they was supported by the
service. They said the staff spoke to them “like they were
normal” and “she is here for me, I can ask anything and
really appreciate her coming, she understands what is
happening and I can ask her anything, I have no fear, I
have confidence in her that she’s not hiding anything
from me.”

• Two further patients told us they had received calls
since their loved one had passed away. One said she felt
they genuinely cared and the other relative said she had
personally thanked the staff in the newspaper.

Are services caring?
By caring, we mean that staff involve and treat people with compassion,
kindness, dignity and respect.

Good –––

23 Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust Quality Report 06/02/2017

Page 79



Summary of findings
Overall the responsive domain was judged as good.
Improvement was needed in the children’s and young
peoples services provided by the trust, the remaining
services were judged as good.

• We saw that the majority of services were responsive
to peoples needs and services were planned and
delivered with the needs of local users in mind for
example.

• Midwifery and sexual health services held clinics
across a wide geographical area, close to patient’s
homes and there were weekend drop in clinics for
patients.

• Premises were mostly fit for purpose and were
appropriately accessible and laid out; waiting areas
at the urgent care facilities had plenty of seating and
toys available for children.

• End of life services had rapid discharge procedures in
place to assist the facilitation of a patient’s discharge
to their preferred place of care in all boroughs.

• Inpatient services identified vulnerable patients on
admission and staff provided individualised care to
meet their needs.

• The trust had a comprehensive complaints policy
that was clearly articulated by staff involved in the
management of complaints at trust level. The policy
made specific reference to 'being open' and gave
details as to how compliance policy would be
monitored at trust board level.

• At service level overall complaints were well
managed with information and signposting available
to patients and staff were aware of and working to
the trust policy.

However

• In some services, children and young people were
waiting long periods of time for review appointments
which included a medication review in some cases.
For example, in St Helens, there were children, whose
care had been transferred from a neighbouring trust,
in November 2015, who were awaiting review of care
and treatment for up to three years. Following the

inspection an action plan was drawn up to address
this matter by the end of July 2016 which has now
been completed. In addition audiology services, in
Southport, up to 41% of children had waited longer
than the 18 week target for an appointment.

• Some dental facilities were underused thus local
patients may have been required to travel some
distance to access dental services; potentially
contravening the ‘care closer to home’ principle.

In the majority of services inspected advice leaflets were
only available in English, in inpatient areas, which did
not reflect the diversity of local service users.

Our findings
Service planning and delivery to meet the needs of
local people

• The majority of services provided by the trust used
information about the needs of the local population to
inform how they planned and delivered services. Drop in
clinics were arranged by midwifery and sexual health
services following feedback from patients. We found
that community sexual health services had a flexible
wide range of choice of services in place to meet the
needs of its population. Services like the Parallel which
also focussed on well-being, showed considerable
scope in catering for the needs of a younger population.

• The services worked well with local commissioners,
community organisations, acute, and other healthcare
organisations to meet the holistic needs of patients and
overcame potential barriers to implement effective
individualised care. For example commissioners worked
closely with the three urgent Care centresto help
develop the services at Leigh WIC the CCG worked with
North West Ambulance Service and the trust to develop
the ’pathfinder service’, an admission avoidance service.

• Premises were mostly fit for purpose and were
appropriately accessible and the lay out suitable; for
example waiting areas at the urgent care facilities had
plenty of seating and toys available for children.

• However in Oldham children and young peoples
services where the model for the future provision had
not been confirmed, although staff were taking a

Are services responsive to people’s needs?
By responsive, we mean that services are organised so that they meet people’s
needs.

Good –––

24 Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust Quality Report 06/02/2017

Page 80



‘business as usual’ approach, the lack of school nurses
led to a risk based approach in the delivery of the
service. They currently did not have the capacity to carry
out all their public health plans such as sessions in
schools.

• Also the trust did not strategically plan end of life care
across all geographical areas. Although there was
excellent local planning, based around local authority
boroughs and local CCGs, there was no consideration of
patients needs on a trust wide basis, which allowed
gaps in service provision and quality to go unidentified.

Equality and diversity

• Staff received equality and diversity training on an
annual basis through the mandatory training
programme.

• In the Warrington area a carers support group was held
for those caring for patients with Multiple sclerosis MS
or had suffered a stroke. The support group belonged to
a regional network.

• A disability awareness centre was also based in the
Warrington locality and provided training for carers in
moving and handling, back care and financial
management.

• However in the majority of services inspected advice
leaflets were only available in English, in inpatient areas,
which did not reflect the diversity of local service users.

Meeting needs of people in vulnerable circumstances

• The trust worked well with people in vulnerable
circumstances. The trust-wide safeguarding team
provided support for patients with dementia and
learning disabilities this provided a source of expertise
and knowledge that was shared to accommodate the
needs of those with mental health needs. The services
were able to make reasonable adjustments to
accommodate their needs and were flexible in their
approach including a double room with an adjoining
room which had been used recently for a couple one of
whom was living with dementia and become very
unsettled being apart from their partner.

• There were dedicated children in care nursing teams
available in Warrington, Wigan as well as looked after
children specialist nurses in Halton and St Helens. For
children with learning disabilities, visual schedules

could be given to families, for example use of symbols
for improving sleep patterns. The paediatric continence
service in Halton and St Helens was available for
children and young people aged 0-19 years, although;
young people with learning disabilities could continue
to be supported and treated in the service until aged 25
years if the young person/parent/carer and practitioner
agree that this is most appropriate service.

• Clinical outreach teams took referrals for vulnerable
individuals who could not access mainstream sexual
health services. A sexual health promotion team
provided education training and outreach to those
individuals. The clinical outreach team also supported
looked after children where needed and supported
them to make decisions about relationship choices,
skills and knowledge.

• Dental services provided patients with additional
mobility sites which are more appropriate for those
patients’ needs, for example, Pemberton Health Centre
had a wheelchair accessible dental chair (Diaco Dental
Chair).

• In end of life services it was identified by a team
member that the emotional needs of bereaved men
were not being addressed. Funding was sought for a
men’s shed scheme, specifically for those men who have
been bereaved. A programme of activities and support
been developed, targeted for this client group. The men
we saw were very appreciative of the service. This
service had received a number of awards.

Access to right care at the right time

• There were several delays in children's and young
peoples services with regard to children being assessed
and treated in a timely way.

• Whilst on-site, we were told that 1760 children and
young people in St Helens were transferred care from
another trust in November 2015. It became clear that a
number had not been reviewed as yet which in some
cases this involved a medication review. The trust was
aware of this and had highlighted it on their risk register
but no suitable action plan was in place. Information
from the trust reported that 200 children in St Helens
that had been transferred care from another trust in
November 2015 had not been reviewed by a community
paediatrician. This delay was seen as unacceptable by
the inspection team. An action plan was then

Are services responsive to people’s needs?
By responsive, we mean that services are organised so that they meet people’s
needs.

Good –––

25 Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust Quality Report 06/02/2017

Page 81



established by the trust with weekly updates provided
following the inspection . As part of the action plan, all
families were phoned to arrange appointments (GPs
were contacted if unable to contact parents / carers) as
well as the 0-19 nursing services, walk-in centres and
out of hours GPs. As of week ending 17 June 2016, 154
children were waiting to be seen. The trust developed
an action plan that stated all children needing review
would be seen by 31 July 2016. This was achieved.

• In the governance meeting on 31 March 2016, it was
minuted that there had been breaches in the six week
audiology target of 99%, for audiology in Southport. In
January there were 38 children (41%) that had not been
seen and in February there were 13 children not seen.
From the report regarding Southport audiology, on 26
April 2016, to the clinical governance committee, it was
identified that there were 307 children who should have
been reviewed between November 2011 and 2016 that
had not been reviewed. It was found that a lack of
consistent administrative processes was adversely
affecting the allocation of appointments and reporting
of data. Processes were put into place with a new
referral and follow up management system.

• Therapy staff at the child development centre, Sandy
Lane in Warrington told us that there was a recent
breach in waiting times beyond 18 weeks due to a lack
of suitably qualified staff.

• Other high risks included: children did not receive a high
standard of care within appropriate timeframe from the
children’s complex needs team in Wigan and the
commissioned immunisation programme was
potentially unable to be delivered by St Helens school
nursing.

• The delays seen in accessing children’s and young
people’s services were not seen in other services. We
were told that patients at the end of their life were
identified as a priority by all district nursing teams. We
found evidence to support this prioritisation in patient
case notes.

• The District Nurse Care of the Dying Quality Indicator
Audit Results indicated that the percentage of patients
who had discussions about their preferred place of

care/death recorded in their notes was high, between
95-100%. The percentage of patients who died in their
preferred place of care/death was also high, between
89-97%.

• Adult services were seeing patients referred to the
speech and language team (SALT), the continence
service and podiatry services with 18 weeks and some
services were improving on this. The waiting time for
podiatry in the Halton area was 11 weeks in most cases.

• Midwifery clinics were observed to run on time and
patients did not wait excessive amounts of times to be
seen. The Department of Health target for urgent and
emergency services is to admit, transfer or discharge
95% of patients within four hours of arrival. The average
time from arrival to departure across the services was
192 minutes meeting the Department of Health target.

• There were drop in clinics for patients using sexual
health and phlebotomy services across the trust.

• Dental services were delivered over a large geographical
area and a number of different locations, indicating that
dental services generally delivered ‘care closer to home’.
However, it appeared that some facilities (for example
the dental clinic at Partington Health Centre) may have
been underused and thus local patients may have been
required to travel some distance to have accessed
dental services; this may have posed challenges for
patients from a poor socio-economic background and
may potentially have contravened the ‘care closer to
home’ principle.

Learning from complaints and concerns

• The trust had a comprehensive complaints policy that
was clearly articulated by staff involved in the
management of complaints at trust level. The policy
made specific reference to 'being open' and gave details
as to how compliance policy would be monitored at
trust board level. We reviewed six complaint files overall
these reflected the requirements of the policy.

• Managers ensured that lessons from complaints were
disseminated via email/newsletters and team meetings.
We noted that information on how to make a complaint
was visible in the corridors at the inpatient facilities and
leaflets available at urgent care and sexual health
centres.

Are services responsive to people’s needs?
By responsive, we mean that services are organised so that they meet people’s
needs.

Good –––

26 Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust Quality Report 06/02/2017

Page 82



• The director of governance and head of risk
management were also notified so that any
organisational or clinical risks arising from complaints
could be added to the corporate risk register.

• A patient questionnaire relating to the complaints
management was sent to the complainant on
completion of local resolution of the procedure.

• Complaints and customer care training was part of the
trust mandatory training to all staff and complaints
investigation training to all managers.

Are services responsive to people’s needs?
By responsive, we mean that services are organised so that they meet people’s
needs.

Good –––

27 Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust Quality Report 06/02/2017

Page 83



Summary of findings
Overall we judged that improvements were required in
the leadership of services. Individually we judged that
improvements were required in end of life
care, children's and young peoples services dentistry
services, and midwifery services and at trust level. We
judged the leadership in sexual health services, urgent
care services, , community inpatients and community
adult services to be good.

• The trust’s visions and values were widely
understood and visible across services. However
EOL, dental, midwifery and children’s and young
people’s services did not have a clear embedded
trust wide service specific strategy or vision and
values.

• With regard to the management of risk the board
assurance framework was not detailed enough to
provide assurance to the board that risks were being
sufficiently monitored and mitigated .

• Because of the newness of some of the
appointments in the executive team EOL, midwifery,
children’s and young peoples services and dental
services reported difficulties with lines of leadership
and accountability for staff. For example, leaders in
the midwifery service stated there were no formal
arrangements in place between the maternity
management and trust senior executive team for
regular one to one meetings.

• However executive and non-executive directors took
part in a programme of quality visits to a range of
locations and there was a predetermined schedule.
Feedback from these visits was recorded and
included non-executives raising questions.

• There were clear programmes for internal and
external audit.

• Staff talked about an open and patient focused
organisation in the majority of services. Many staff
felt that they were valued and that openness and
honesty was encouraged in their service.

• There was a process in place to determine the trust’s
compliance with the regulation for fit and proper
persons in relation to board members. The necessary
checks were found to be in in place at the time of the
inspection.

• The trust took part in a Patient Partners Scheme,
encouraging service users to input their experience
to help the trust make changes for the better.

Our findings
Vision and strategy

• The trust’s strategic objectives were focussed around
‘quality, innovation, sustainability and people’. Their
mission was “to improve local health and promote
wellbeing in the communities we serve. We will do this
by working closely with local people and partners to
promote good health and to be a leading provider of
excellent community healthcare services in the North
West”.

• During our inspection we saw posters at various
locations reminding staff of the values and objectives.
Most staff was aware of the trust’s vision, mission
statement and core values.

• However at local level we found several services did not
have a service level strategy and vision.

• It was not clear what the senior dental management
team’s short, medium and long term vision was for the
dental service. The trust did not have a strategy for end
of life services. We found that the trust did not have an
end of life strategy group. The trust accepted our
findings and commented that the first trust strategy
group was set up for June 2016. There was no trust
vision for end of life services.

• There was no single vision and strategy across the trust
specific for children and young peoples services,
although there were five year ‘operational and strategic
plans’ for some individual boroughs. There was no
strategy seen for Southport.

Are services well-led?
By well-led, we mean that the leadership, management and governance of the
organisation assure the delivery of high-quality person-centred care, supports
learning and innovation, and promotes an open and fair culture.

Requires improvement –––

28 Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust Quality Report 06/02/2017

Page 84



• There was no evidence of a specific vision or strategy for
the community midwifery service within documentation
reviewed and no evidence to maintain or improve the
sustainability of the service.

• There was also some uncertainty at local level over the
future strategy within some areas of the intermediate
care facilities due to the uncertainty over the future
ownership of some intermediate care services.

Governance, risk management and quality
measurement

• The trust had set out their governance arrangements in
the board assurance framework which was reviewed
annually. The framework summarised the strategic risks
faced by the trust governance and risk management
was maturing but was not yet well embedded. The trust
had recognised that improvements in clinical
governance were needed and there had been changes
in teams responsible for leading this. These changes
had increased in pace in the six months before the
inspection with new roles having been created however
there remained a number of improvements that needed
to be completed .

• The board assurance framework (BAF) did not contain
sufficient detail to provide the board with assurance
that risks are being effectively monitored and mitigated.
Where gaps in both assurance and controls are
identified there were no actions to address these gaps
also there was no owner assigned to any of the
corporate and strategic risks in the BAF. For example
some medical staff shortages were identified in out of
hours services causing delays in patients being seen and
medication being administered. A plan had been put in
place but no plan was available to the board to consider
and challenge if needed.

• There were no robust governance systems in place for
end of life services at trust level. By this we mean that
there was no end of life steering group setting targets
and measuring progress towards these targets, for end
of life services.

• Risks to the end of life service were not fully identified.
An example of this is that the up and coming change to
a consultant’s role meant a decrease in medical service
provision, but this was not identified as a risk to the
service.

• There was also no evidence of a clear governance
structure within midwifery services. There was no
evidence that risk was managed within a framework
that included clinical audits, education and training,
complaints, health and safety, service user involvement
and service development. There was no robust evidence
to show us that there were links within the Bridgewater
trust wide strategies and initiatives and that risk
management was integrated within the general trust
management and business plan.

• Executive and non-executive directors took part in a
programme of quality visits to a range of locations and
there was a predetermined schedule. The programme
included community hospitals and community services
such as podiatry and the community nursing service.
Feedback from these visits was recorded and included
non-executives raising questions.

• There were clear programmes for internal and external
audit. The lack of maturity in some governance areas
was a challenge for the inspection team in obtaining
trust wide data. There was readily available information
for services and locations but looking across the
organisation was more of a challenge.

Leadership of the provider

• The chief executive had been in their current role since
April 2015 and a number of executive directors were in
their first substantive posts and consequently were a
relatively new team compared to other similar trusts.
There had been some recent changes with the medical
director recently appointed and the director of nursing
in post for a relatively short time. There was a good
functioning relationship between the chair and chief
executive.

• Because of the newness of some of the appointments
the trust leadership for services EOL, midwifery,
children’s and young peoples services and dental
services reported difficulties with lines of leadership and
accountability for staff. For example, midwifery staff
stated there were no formal arrangements in place
between the maternity management and trust senior
executive team for regular one to one meetings. Staff
informed us that there had been many executive team
changes and “they needed time to settle before a formal
plan was arranged”.

Are services well-led?
By well-led, we mean that the leadership, management and governance of the
organisation assure the delivery of high-quality person-centred care, supports
learning and innovation, and promotes an open and fair culture.

Requires improvement –––

29 Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust Quality Report 06/02/2017

Page 85



• However staff stated they felt supported by senior trust
management in some inpatient services. Staff at
Newton-le-Willows said that the chief executive had
visited the ward regularly and had participated in the
listening in action programmes that had been
undertaken there.

Culture within the provider

• Staff talked about an open and patient focused
organisation in the majority of services. Many staff felt
that they were valued and that openness and honesty
was encouraged in their service.

• The trust leadership recognised that some community
staff had been through a period of prolonged change
and uncertainty with some community staff having a
number of employers over a number of years. Children
and young peoples services reported a lack of
consultation during some of these changes.

• Bridgewater Trust had signed up to the national Speak
out Safely (SOS) campaign. The SOS campaign
encourages NHS organisations and independent
healthcare providers to develop cultures that are honest
and transparent, while actively encouraging and
protecting staff who raise the alarm when they see and
report poor practice. However staff in the midwifery
service told us that midwifery service did not take part in
this this did not assure us that midwifery staff were
supported to raise concerns about wrongdoing or poor
practice and that they felt confident that their concerns
were addressed in a constructive way by the trust.

• Also a significant number of staff we spoke in end of life
services indicated that they felt very isolated from the
trust and considered themselves to be more part of the
service from where they were based, than a trust
employee. Staff could not identify the trust lead for end
of life services.

• We noted that staff providing services to patients were
very happy with the quality and openness of their line
management arrangements. However, as seniority
increased there was an increasingly frequent reporting
of difficulty in management relationships.

Fit and proper persons

• There was a process in place to determine the trust’s
compliance with the regulation for fit and proper
persons in relation to board members. The necessary
checks were found to be in in place at the time of the
inspection.

• We looked at the records for a sample of board
members and saw that the relevant information had
been obtained. For example, references, insolvency
checks and Disclosure and Barring Services (DBS)
checks.

Staff Engagement

• The listening into action programme was a key platform
for engagement with staff. They held ‘big conversations’
with some teams and also ‘director drop-ins’. There were
also ‘open space’ events where the chief executive led
sessions for any staff member to attend and participate
in a variety of locations across the boroughs. Team brief
sessions were also held and delivered by other
members of the executive team. Staff told us these
events have increased their feeling of inclusion and
engagement with the trust and their working
environment which in turn has increased their job
satisfaction. They felt listened to and included in
decision making.

• The trust scored above the England average for staff
who would recommend the trust as a place to receive
care with 85% compared to an England average of 79%,
whilst also scoring lower than average for the percent
who would not recommend. However the response rate
was 6% lower than the England average.

• The trust scored 20% below the England average with
42% of staff recommending the trust as a place to work
whilst 37% would not recommend, when compared to
an England average of 19%.

• Staff engagement occurs through meetings and trust-
wide blogs.

• We saw several examples for district nursing staff
receiving a trust ‘Star of the Month’ award. A ‘wall of
praise’ was displayed in nurse team bases so that all
staff could see the compliments received.

• Staff surveys were undertaken yearly and results were
analysed and published.

Public engagement

Are services well-led?
By well-led, we mean that the leadership, management and governance of the
organisation assure the delivery of high-quality person-centred care, supports
learning and innovation, and promotes an open and fair culture.

Requires improvement –––

30 Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust Quality Report 06/02/2017

Page 86



• Bridgewater Community Healthcare trust took part in a
Patient Partners Scheme, encouraging service users to
input their experience to help the trust makes changes
for the better.

• The latest NHS staff Friends and Family Test results for
Bridgewater as a whole showed that 42% of staff would
recommend the trust as a place to work, compared to
England average of 62%; and 85% of staff would
recommend it as a place to receive treatment,
compared to an England average of 79%. These results
were based on a 5.4% completion rate, the England
average response rate was 11.4%.

• Children's and young persons services held a ‘listen 4
change parent / carer information day’, in St Helens in
June 2015 that included representatives for the local
authority and charities as well as health providers.
Further public health events were planned in the
Warrington borough, with themes including child safety
and dental hygiene.

• Patient surveys were undertaken across a wide range of
services and teams.

• At time of the inspection with regards dental services,
we were not presented with evidence that indicated
satisfactory engagement with the public, in particularly
with regards to accessibility of services.

Are services well-led?
By well-led, we mean that the leadership, management and governance of the
organisation assure the delivery of high-quality person-centred care, supports
learning and innovation, and promotes an open and fair culture.

Requires improvement –––

31 Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust Quality Report 06/02/2017

Page 87



Action we have told the provider to take
The table below shows the legal requirements that were not being met. The provider must send CQC a report that says
what action they are going to take to meet these requirements.

This section is primarily information for the provider

Enforcement actions

32 Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust Quality Report 06/02/2017

Page 88



1 

 

 
 
BRIEFING TO OLDHAM HEALTH SCRUTINY SUB-
COMMITTEE 
 
Report Title: Children's Safeguarding Task Group 

 

Report Author:  Oliver Collins, Principal Policy Officer   
 
Date: 20th March 2018 
 
Since the last time the committee met, there has been two meetings of the task and 
finish group to look into the provision of child safeguarding provision in the borough. 
 
In attendance at these meetings have been: 
Cllrs McLaren, Goodwin, Toor, Ball 
LSCB Lisa Morris, Safeguarding Manager  
Oliver Collins, Principal Policy Officer 
 
At the first meeting (9th January) the scope of the group’s work was agreed, with two 
areas of focus identified. 
 

1. Developing a more engaging and practical core safeguarding training package 

for elected members. 

2. Continue to develop the multi-agency training offer that; 

o Builds on the competency frameworks that are currently in development 

o Combines, where appropriate, both children’s and adults safeguarding 

e.g. domestic abuse awareness  

 
At the second meeting of the group (6th February), these two themes were discussed 
in more detail. The key actions included; 

 Ensuring that safeguarding training is included into the developing elected 
member development programme 
 

 Officers to identify, where possible, for adults and safeguarding training to be 
offered as one session rather than separate 

 For the multi-agency safeguarding training calendar to be reviewed to ensure 
it is fit for purpose and how it is promoted 

 For officers to look at how training can be delivered in a more informal fashion, 
when and where possible. 

 
Ask of the Health Scrutiny Sub-Committee 
 
The sub-committee is asked to note the update and progress made through the task 
group to date. 
 

Page 89

Agenda Item 16



This page is intentionally left blank



   

 
 
BRIEFING TO HEALTH SCRUTINY 
Report Title: Mayors Healthy Living Campaign  

Report Author: Oliver Collins 
Date: 20th March 
 
Background: 
Each year, the Mayor is approached to see whether they have any particular 
areas of health and wellbeing they would like to actively support and raise 
awareness of during their term in office. 
 
Previous themes have included: 

- Breastfeeding 
- Children Oral Health 
- Smoking Cessation 
- Health Checks 
- Physical Activity 

 
For 2018/19, Cllr Javid Iqbal will be the Mayor of Oldham. In the coming 
weeks, Cllr McLaren and Oliver Collins will meet with Cllr Iqbal to discuss 
what themes he would like to focus on during his term of office. The chosen 
themes will then be developed into a work programme for the mayor, involving 
the relevant officers from the council and partners as required.  
 
The Health Scrutiny committee will be kept updated through the year as to the 
activity the Mayor has been involved in to promote healthy living 
 
Recommendations to Health Scrutiny 
 
Health Scrutiny sub-committee is asked to note the update. 

Page 91

Agenda Item 17



This page is intentionally left blank



   

 
 
BRIEFING TO HEALTH SCRUTINY 
 
Report Title: Council Motions  

 
Report Author: Oliver Collins 

 
Date: 20th March 
 
Background: There have been no motions of business submitted to Full 
Council since the last time this sub-committee met. 
 
The next Council meeting is due to be held on Wednesday 28th March 2018. 
 

Page 93

Agenda Item 18



This page is intentionally left blank



OLDHAM HEALTH SCRUTINY SUBCOMMITTEE  
 

FORWARD PLAN 2018-19 
 
 

Date of 
meeting 

Topic to be 
addressed 

What For discussion, 
approval, 
information?  

Lead Officer  

3rd July Urgent Primary Care 
 

Progress on the decision taken by 
the CCG and the implementation of 
the decision 

Discussion Mark Drury & 
Dr Shelley 
Grumbridge 

Pennine Acute CQC 
Inspection 

Progress Report following the re-
inspection of the Trust and Royal 
Oldham Hospital by the CQC 

Discussion Donna 
McLaughlin 

Council Motions Review of Health related motions at 
council and subsequent actions 

Discussion Chair 

Mayors Healthy 
Living Campaign 

Progress update on the elected 
themes for the Mayor’s Healthy 
Living Campaign  

Discussion Chair 

 

11th 
September 

Local Care 
Organisation 

Progress report on the 
development and implementation of 
the Local Care organisation plan 

Discussion Carolyn 
Wilkins 

Tobacco Control  Progress report on the 
development and implementation of 
the Council’s approach to Tobacco 
control and how it links to the GM 

Discussion Lianne 
Davies 

P
age 95

A
genda Item

 19



programme  

Council Motions Review of Health related motions at 
council and subsequent actions 

Discussion Chair 

Mayors Healthy 
Living Campaign 

 Discussion Chair 

 

23rd 
October 

Air Quality    

Regional Adoption 
Agency 

   

Council Motions Review of Health related motions at 
council and subsequent actions 

Discussion Chair 

Mayors Healthy 
Living Campaign 

 Discussion Chair 

 

11th 
December 

    

    

Council Motions Review of Health related motions at 
council and subsequent actions 

Discussion Chair 

Mayors Healthy 
Living Campaign 

 Discussion Chair 

 

29th 
January 

Pennine Care 
Foundation Trust – 
CQC Inspection  

Progress update for 2018   

    

Council Motions Review of Health related motions at 
council and subsequent actions 

Discussion Chair 

P
age 96



Mayors Healthy 
Living Campaign 

 Discussion Chair 

 

26th March     

    

    

Council Motions  Discussion Chair 

Mayors Healthy 
Living Campaign 

 Discussion Chair 

 

P
age 97



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	6 Minutes of the Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee for Pennine Care Foundation Trust
	7 Minutes of the Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee for Pennine Acute Hospitals NHS Trust
	8 GM Health and Social Care Partnership Minutes
	9 Greater Manchester Joint Health Scrutiny Committee
	10 Minutes of the Health and Wellbeing Board
	11 Meeting Overview
	12 Resolution and Action Log
	13 Urgent Primary Care
	14 Integrated Care Organisation
	15 Bridgewater NHS Trust
	Appendix 1 - Bridgewater CQC report
	Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust
	Ratings
	Overall rating for community health services at this provider
	Are services safe?
	Are services effective?
	Are services caring?
	Are services responsive?
	Are services well-led?

	Contents
	Summary of this inspection
	Detailed findings from this inspection

	Overall summary
	For shoulds please see individual core service reports

	Our inspection team
	Why we carried out this inspection
	How we carried out this inspection

	Summary of findings
	Information about the provider
	Areas for improvement

	Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust
	Summary of findings
	Our findings

	Are services safe?
	Summary of findings
	Our findings

	Are services effective?
	Summary of findings
	Our findings

	Are services caring?
	Summary of findings
	Our findings

	Are services responsive to people’s needs?
	Summary of findings
	Our findings

	Are services well-led?
	Action we have told the provider to take

	Enforcement actions


	16 Children’s Safeguarding Task Group
	17 Mayor's Healthy Living Campaign
	18 Council Motions
	19 2018/19 Forward Plan

